Biochimie 214 (2023) 176-192

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimie

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biochi

Non-B DNA structures as a booster of genome instability

Renée C. Duardo¹, Federico Guerra¹, Simona Pepe¹, Giovanni Capranico^{*} Department of Pharmacy and Biotechnology, Alma Mater Studiorum University of Bologna, via Selmi 3, 40126, Bologna, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 March 2023 Received in revised form 4 July 2023 Accepted 6 July 2023 Available online 8 July 2023

Handling Editor: J.L. Mergny

Keywords: Genome instability Non-canonical DNA structures Chromosome aberrations Micronuclei DNA damage

ABSTRACT

Non-canonical secondary structures (NCSs) are alternative nucleic acid structures that differ from the canonical B-DNA conformation. NCSs often occur in repetitive DNA sequences and can adopt different conformations depending on the sequence. The majority of these structures form in the context of physiological processes, such as transcription-associated R-loops, G4s, as well as hairpins and slippedstrand DNA, whose formation can be dependent on DNA replication. It is therefore not surprising that NCSs play important roles in the regulation of key biological processes. In the last years, increasing published data have supported their biological role thanks to genome-wide studies and the development of bioinformatic prediction tools. Data have also highlighted the pathological role of these secondary structures. Indeed, the alteration or stabilization of NCSs can cause the impairment of transcription and DNA replication, modification in chromatin structure and DNA damage. These events lead to a wide range of recombination events, deletions, mutations and chromosomal aberrations, well-known hallmarks of genome instability which are strongly associated with human diseases. In this review, we summarize molecular processes through which NCSs trigger genome instability, with a focus on Gquadruplex, i-motif, R-loop, Z-DNA, hairpin, cruciform and multi-stranded structures known as triplexes. © 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction			
2.	Non-canonical secondary structures and related genome instability			
	2.1.	G-quadruplexes	178	
		2.1.1. G-quadruplex related genome instability	178	
	2.2.	R-loops	180	
		2.2.1. R-loop related genome instability	180	
	2.3.	I-motifs	181	
		2.3.1. i-motif related genome instability	182	
	2.4.	Hairpins, cruciforms and slipped strand DNA structures	182	
		2.4.1. DNA loop structures related genome instability	183	
	2.5.	Triplexes	184	
		2.5.1. Triplexes related genome instability	184	
	2.6.	Z-DNA	185	
		2.6.1. Z-DNA related genome instability	186	
3.	Conclu	Conclusion		
	Ackno	owledgements	187	
	Refere	ences	187	

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: giovanni.capranico@unibo.it (G. Capranico). ¹ Equal contribution (alphabetic order).

1. Introduction

Non-canonical secondary structures (NCSs) include a variety of

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2023.07.002

0300-9084/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).







Abbreviations				
NCSs	Non-canonical secondary structures			
G4s	G-quadruplexes			
PrimPol	Primase-Polymerase			
HRR	Homologous recombination repair			
DSBs	DNA double strand breaks			
PDS	Pyridostatin			
CPT	Camptothecin			
TLS	Translesion synthesis			
UFBs	Ultra-fine bridges			
NER	Nucleotide excision repair			
RNAPII	RNA Polymerase II			
RTCs	Replication-transcription conflicts			
HO	Head-on			
CD	Co-directional			
SWNTs	single-walled carbon nanotube			
R	Polypurine strand			
Y	Polypyrimidine strand			
TFO	Triplex forming oligonucleotide			

nucleic acid structures that do not rely simply on the canonical Watson-Crick base pairing and strand complementarity. Nucleic acids can therefore adopt alternative conformations other than the classical B-DNA double helix structure. NCSs commonly form at repeated DNA regions and their stability and structural diversity can be influenced by various factors, including the nucleotide sequence. For example, inverted repeats can form hairpin or cruciform structures while mirror repeats tend to form triplexes. In addition, guanine-rich sequences can promote the formation of Gquadruplexes (G4s) and/or R-loops (Fig. 1A and B), whereas cytosine-rich sequences may form four-stranded structures, known as i-motifs. Despite these differences, the high similarity of NCSs forming sequences may allow the folding of two or more structures in the same DNA region, which may coexist or compete with each other. This is the case of G4s and R-loops, which, when located on the opposite strands of the same DNA region, form the so-called Gloop structures (Fig. 1C) [1]. Given the complementarity of their forming sequences, also G4s and i-motifs can also fold simultaneously on opposite strands or be mutually exclusive [2,3]. Experimental and computational studies have shown that NCSs can form in gene regulatory DNA regions, such as promoters, untranslated regions, telomeres, and replication initiation zones, proving their involvement in transcription, replication, recombination and other biological mechanisms [4,5]. The participation of non-B DNA structures in biological processes requires a finely tuning of their formation, removal and localization. Indeed, the failure of these control mechanisms leads to the dysregulation of cellular functions, resulting in genome instability. NCS-mediated genome instability is mainly associated with the impairment of DNA replication as all non-canonical structures can interfere with the ongoing replication fork and even when cells engage specialized polymerases to resume replication, the process is error-prone [6,7]. The outcomes of such interference are diverse and range from fork collapse and DNA damage to expansions and deletions of DNA portions as well as under-replication of DNA regions [7]. However, NCSs can also interfere with transcription by blocking ongoing RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) or by altering gene expression and can be targeted by endogenous nucleases or error-prone repair enzymes causing further instability [8,9]. Therefore, the dynamic equilibrium between canonical B-DNA and non-B DNA structures plays an important role in the regulation of cellular processes. Disruption of this equilibrium can have severe consequences leading to genome instability and, consequently, to several human diseases such as cancer [9–11].

In this regard, G4s have been found to accumulate at the L1 retrotransposon element in Alzheimer's disease [12], while mutations in RNaseH2 and ADAR1 (R-loops and Z-DNA regulatory enzymes, respectively) cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome [13,14]. Hairpin structures, as well as R-loops and triplexes, have been also linked to trinucleotide repeat expansions, largely associated with neurological diseases [9] and all of these structures have been found to increase mutational burden and to dysregulate cancerrelated genes thus contributing to cancer onset [15]. A deeper insight into the biology of non-canonical structures and their impact on genome instability is, therefore, extremely important to develop therapeutic strategies to face such diseases. In recent years, research in this field has focused on the development of small molecules and ligands that can selectively recognize these noncanonical structures, making them potential therapeutic targets for several pathologies, including cancer. In addition, several studies have attempted to understand how these structures can be induced/stabilized as a way of further triggering genome instability. Indeed, the success of anti-cancer strategies usually relay on their ability to induce DNA damage, replication fork stalling or mitotic mis-segregation which in turn activate various responses, such as inhibition of cell proliferation and induction of cell death. Interestingly, recent discoveries have also established the existence of a complex crosstalk between genome instability and the innate immune system [16] and have pointed out how genome instability induced by some NCSs stimulates an anti-cancer immune response with interesting perspectives in the field of immunotherapy and combinational therapy. For example, G4 binders and Top1 poisons, which stabilize G4s and modulate R-loops amounts respectively, induce the formation of micronuclei, well-known markers of genome instability, which activate innate immune gene pathways in several cancer cells [17-19]. In this review, we describe the structural features of NCSs focusing on mutations, deletions, and other gross chromosomal rearrangements that occur as a consequence of their altered homeostasis during the main biological processes. In particular, we discuss the current state of knowledge



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of G4, R-loop and G-loop structures. (A) Two different conformations that G4s can adopt according to strand direction. (B) R-loop structure consists in an RNA strand annealed to its DNA template forming a hybrid duplex and a displaced non-template DNA strand. (C) G4 folding on the displaced DNA strand of R-loop results in a secondary structure known as G-loop. Created with Biorender.com.

on the molecular mechanisms of genetic instability induced by these structures and how this instability causes human diseases.

2. Non-canonical secondary structures and related genome instability

2.1. G-quadruplexes

G4s are currently one of the most abundant and studied non-B DNA structures involved in the regulation of various cellular processes. G4s are four-stranded nucleic acid structures that can originate from either DNA or RNA G-rich regions and are constituted by stacked guanine tetrads held together by Hoogsteen hydrogen bonds further stabilized by monovalent cations (K⁺ or Na⁺) coordinated in or between the G-tetrads. G4s can adopt different conformations depending on various factors such as strand stoichiometry, direction, and intervening nucleotide length [20,21] (Fig. 1A). Experimental and bioinformatic data have shown that the number of the canonical consensus of potential G4forming sequences (PQSs) in the human genome is between 300,000 and 1.5 million [22,23]. According to computational and genome-wide studies, G4s are preferentially located at gene regulatory regions, such as promoters, enhancers, untranslated exon regions, telomeric DNA, immunoglobulin sites and recombination hot-spots [24]. Interestingly, G4s have been found to be particularly enriched in the promoter region of oncogenes such as c-Myc, c-KIT, BCL2, KRAS, VEGF and SRC [25], indicating a strong association of these structures with cancer. Given their abundance and their specific localization across the human genome, G4s play a critical role in the regulation of many biological processes such as replication initiation, telomere maintenance, DNA damage repair, high order chromatin organization and gene expression regulation [26-28]. As other non-B DNA structures, G4s can form in nucleosome-free DNA regions influencing the occupancy and positioning of nucleosomes in chromatin [4,26,29], further indicating that G4s play a key role in gene regulation and transcriptional control. In some cases, G4s can act as a platform for the binding of specific transcription factors and chromatin regulatory proteins, helping to maintain chromatin in an open state and facilitating gene expression [30,31]. Conversely, changes in the chromatin landscape can affect the folding and distribution of G4s across the genome. For example, methylation of the guanine residues in G4-forming sequences can modulate G4 formation and subsequently affect the binding of G4 interacting proteins [32]. In addition, chromatin remodeling can modulate pre-existing and de novo G4s formation. Interestingly, induced chromatin relaxation in HaCaT cells modulates G4s particularly in regulatory regions associated with high levels of transcription, indicating a positive correlation between G4s folding and transcriptional activity and pointing out that G4 structures may play a role in epigenetically mark the genome [26]. Given their high relevance in regulating key biological processes, G4 status is a critical point that can affect both physiological and pathological conditions. Indeed, during transcription and replication processes, negative supercoiling can facilitate the formation of stable G4s [33] which, if not promptly resolved by dedicated helicases or stabilized by G4-ligands, can represent a steric obstacle to RNA and DNA polymerase progression. The persistent blockage of these processes causes a general stress that can result in the generation of double strand breaks (DSBs), mutations, increased recombination events, chromosome aberrations and micronuclei formation. Accordingly, the loss of G4related helicases, such as BLM and FANCJ, which are usually involved in the control of G4 homeostasis, leads to the development of pathologies characterized by G4-mediated high recombination events and DNA damage [34,35].

2.1.1. G-quadruplex related genome instability

Transcription-dependent instability induced by G4s has been shown to occur in yeast due to the high transcriptional rate at PQSs in the immunoglobulin Sµ region [36]. Furthermore, in vivo G4 stabilization by using different small molecules has been shown to trigger the G4-mediated transcriptional reprogramming of the BU-1 locus in DT-40 cells in a replication-dependent manner [37]. More in detail, delayed G4 processing mediated by specific helicases in the BU-1 locus can arrest DNA polymerase progression at the leading strand causing replisome uncoupling and an impairment of histone recycling/nucleosome reassembly. This modified pattern of histone modifications is epigenetically inherited across cellular divisions and results in a permanent alteration of BU-1 gene expression [37]. Stabilization of G4s by using small ligands is known to induce deleterious effects on genome stability, including DNA damage. In this context, by generating the first genome-wide G4 map, Rodriguez et al. revealed that treatment with the G4 ligand Pyridostatin (PDS) caused DNA damage in chromosomal regions containing a high number of G4-forming sites in a manner dependent on transcription and replication [38]. Interestingly, DNA damage elicited by PDS at G4 sites occurred in some of the G4associated oncogenes such as *c-Myc* and *SRC* resulting in the downregulation of these genes [38]. This is consistent with other published data showing that TMPyP4-mediated G4 stabilization inhibits transcription initiation by impairing transcription factors loadings at promoters and decreasing RNA polymerase II occupancy [39]. Hence, these findings provide evidence that the dysregulation of G4 structures can interfere with the normal functioning of the transcriptional machinery affecting genome stability and the expression levels of various genes, including disease-related genes [40]. Indeed, G4s has been associated with several pathologies, including cancer and neurodegenerative diseases [26,41] and published data converge on G4s as potentially effective pharmacological targets for DNA-targeted therapies, particularly in anticancer drug design. In particular, it has been shown that G4s are specifically enriched in the promoter region of oncogenes and are associated with somatic copy number amplification and structural variants in several cancer cells highlighting the role of these structures in cancer progression and in cancer-mediated genome instability [42,43]. It has been also demonstrated that actively formed G4s, rather than the G4 motif sequence, contribute to the generation of somatic structural variants (SVs) in cancers [42]. Moreover, SVs breakpoints related to G4s are associated with active chromatin markers and are enriched in regulatory regions of the genome, such as early replication origins and TAD boundaries [42], suggesting that G4-mediated impairment of chromatin organization, transcription, or DNA replication, may result in somatic breakpoints contributing to genome instability of cancer cells. The fact that the relationship between G4s and somatic structural variants is cancer type specific and can be modified by multiple factors, including genomic and epigenomic signatures and chromatin structures [26,42,43], suggests that G4s can be used as genomic markers for the prediction of somatic breakpoints in cancer.

The impairment of DNA replication due to G4s alteration/stabilization has been associated with improperly replicated DNA and DNA damage, which can promote mutagenesis (e.g., recombination, mutations and deletions), loss of genetic information and micronuclei formation strongly affecting the genome integrity. During replication, G4 folding negatively interferes with DNA synthesis of both lagging and leading strands [44]. This has been largely demonstrated with *in vitro* experiments showing that various DNA polymerases, involved in both DNA replication and repair, fail to bypass the G4 barrier [45]. For this reason, several helicases or nucleases are involved in the *in vivo* resolution of G4s during DNA replication, removing structural barriers and avoiding the stop of DNA synthesis [18]. In Saccharomyces cerevisiae the PIF1 helicase is fundamental to maintain genome stability by preventing G4mediated replication fork stalling and DNA breakage [46,47]. The BLM helicase has a role both in preventing G4-mediated replication stress, especially at telomere region [48,49] and in ensuring faithful chromosome segregation in human cells. A model of BLM helicase activity in decatenating sister chromatid bridges during anaphase has been shown to prevent micronuclei formation, chromosome aberrations or other mitotic-related defects that lead to genome instability [50,51]. Furthermore, Lee and co-workers have shown that the FANCI helicase, in combination with RPA protein, processes G4-associated replication forks ensuring a proper replication stress response to promote ATR-mediated replication fork restart, thereby guaranteeing genome stability [52]. In Caenorhabditis elegans, cells lacking dog1, FANCJ helicase ortholog, accumulate site-specific genome deletions at G-C rich regions, including in predicted G4 motifs [53]. In addition, G4-associated helicases can recruit alternative DNA polymerases, such as REV1 and Pol ζ [54], to replicate G4-containing templates through a translesion synthesis (TLS) mechanism (Fig. 2A). TLS is a mechanism of DNA damage tolerance pathway that allows replication forks to overcome template obstacles, ensuring DNA replication progression. Among TLS polymerases, Polymerase n has been largely associated with G4s [55,56] and its activity, especially at common fragile sites, prevents replication perturbations at G4-forming sites. These perturbations have been associated with incompletely replicated DNA in G2/M, that can result in Ultra-Fine DNA bridges (UFBs) formation. If left unresolved, these structures can give rise to micronuclei containing fragile-site sequences [57]. DNA synthesis repriming is another



Fig. 2. Mechanisms through which G-quadruplexes can induce replicationdependent genome instability. The formation of G4 structures within the replication bubble represents an obstacle for the replication machinery limiting the progression of DNA polymerase and inducing replication fork stall. To avoid replication fork collapse, dedicated helicases, including FANCJ, are involved in the in vivo resolution of G4s. (A) FANCI is also implicated in the recruitment of specialized DNA polymerases, as Rev1, able to replicate G4-containing templates through a TLS mechanism. (B) Besides TLS, PrimPol-mediated repriming and fork reversal are two mechanisms that counteract G4-barrier allowing the restart of DNA synthesis. PrimPol-mediated repriming (RNA primer is indicated in yellow) can promote genomic instability since it leaves ssDNA gap that, if left unrepaired, can collapse in DSBs and contribute to mutations. The absence of BRCA1/2 proteins exacerbates ssDNA gap accumulation and mutation events related to PrimPol repriming activity. BRCA1/2 proteins play also a pivotal role in fork reversal mechanism as their absence can lead to the degradation of the newly synthetized DNA by nucleases (e.g., MRE11) driving fork degradation. Created with Biorender.com.

an obstacle-bypass mechanism. Schiavone et al. demonstrated that the DNA primase and DNA polymerase PrimPol is involved in this mechanism as it catalyses de novo synthesis of RNA primer, promoting the restart of DNA synthesis downstream of G4 replication impediment on the leading strand [58] (Fig. 2B). Consequently, it leaves un-replicated single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) gaps which must be filled by post-replicative mechanisms. Loss of PrimPol in human cells causes defects in replication fork progression and restart, increase in sister chromatid exchanges, mutagenesis and micronuclei formation [59,60]. By contrast, PrimPol repriming likely leads to increased genomic instability and DNA damage when PrimPol related ssDNA gaps cannot be properly repaired. Indeed, when left unrepaired, ssDNA gaps can collapse into DSBs in subsequent cell divisions [61]. Members of TLS and homologous recombination (HR) repair mechanisms mediate ssDNA gap filling depending on the cell phase [62], and loss of these factors significantly affects cell survival and increases genome instability and DNA damage [63]. In particular, BRCA1/2-deficient cells accumulate ssDNA gaps and spontaneous mutations due to the repriming of PrimPol [62,64] (Fig. 2B). G4-mediated DSBs may be formed through several mechanisms, previously reviewed in Miglietta et al., 2020, and different repair pathways are involved in their resolution. G4-induced DSBs can be processed by Polymerase θ mediated alternative end joining, an intrinsically mutagenic mechanism that causes insertions or deletions at DNA damaged regions related to G4s, thereby contributing to the induction of genome instability [61]. DSBs can also be repaired by a HRmediated mechanism using an intact homologous DNA sequence. However, HR-mediated repair can generate unresolved DNA intermediates which can lead to anaphase bridges and UFBs formation, potentially causing genome instability [65]. HR factors, such as BRCA1 and BRCA2, have also a role in protecting stalled replication forks from nuclease degradation [66,67], thus promoting the restart of replication and driving HR repair (Fig. 2B). This is in line with the fact that BRCA1/2-deficient cancer cells are particularly sensitive to G4 binders [68]. Indeed, stabilization of G4 structures in BRCA2deficient cancer cells induces high levels of DSBs [69] which can activate different molecular pathways leading to either cell killing or genome instability. This finding is consistent with more recent data showing that G4-mediated replication stress can trigger nonrandom DNA segregation, a mitotic event in which the sister chromatids inherited asymmetrically the damaged newly synthetized DNA leading to cell-cycle arrest and cell death of the only damaged daughter cell [70]. In addition, De Magis et al. demonstrate that, besides DSBs, after G4s stabilization by using PDS and FG ligands, BRCA2-deficient cells show high levels of micronuclei with a mechanism involving unscheduled R-loop/G4s (G-loop) formation [66] (Fig. 1C). This G4s and R-loops interplay seems to have a crucial function in driving DNA damage and genome instability in different types of cancer cells. Interestingly, recent findings have shown that the stabilization of G4 and R-loop structures, mediated by G4 binders and Top1 poisons, may have an immunestimulatory effect, since they can activate an innate immune cascade in human cancer cells through micronuclei accumulation [18,68]. In particular, G4-and R-loop- induced micronuclei are recognized by the cytoplasmic DNA sensor cGAS leading to STING activation, which plays a pivotal role in stimulating Type I Interferon and other immune-related pathways such as lymphocyte and T-cell migration, which are fundamental to elicit an adaptive immune tumour surveillance [16,18]. Therefore, these findings elucidate the potential anticancer activity that G4 binders- and Top1 poisons-mediated genome instability can promote in tumour cells opening the way for the development of new cancer therapies.

mechanism that cells employ to counteract the G4 barrier through

2.2. R-loops

R-loops are hybrid structures composed of an RNA strand annealed to its template and a displaced non-template strand (Fig. 1B). Their formation is favoured by various DNA features such as negative super-helicity, nicked DNA or presence of GC skew [19.71]. As the accumulation of negative supercoils associated with ongoing RNA Polymerase II (RNAPII) favours RNA hybridization (thread back model), they mostly form during transcription [72,73]. These RNAPII-dependent R-loops can be divided into "promoterpaused", when they form as a consequence of RNAPII pausing at the promoter, and "elongation-associated", when their formation occurs at the gene body in association with transcription elongation [74]. In addition to these co-transcriptional R-loops (*in-cis*), accumulating evidence suggests that transcripts can hybridize posttranscriptionally to complementary sequences at a different locus from where they were transcribed (in-trans) [75-78]. Genomewide studies revealed that R-loops cover from 3% to 8% of eukaryotic genomes and that they accumulate not only at highly transcribed regions but also at retrotransposons, antisense or noncoding RNAs and at repeated regions of telomeres and centromeres [71]. R-loops can regulate transcription initiation and termination, chromatin organization, DNA methylation, telomere maintenance, immunoglobulin class-switch recombination, DNA replication and repair processes [79,80]. However, altered R-loop levels, stability or position can have harmful consequences such as DNA damage and genome instability, hence cells developed several mechanisms to control R-loop homeostasis [71,80,81]. Despite the existence of factors which favour or stabilize R-loops formation. like DDX1 and DHX9 helicases or mitochondrial ssDNA-binding proteins [71], most of the reported data deal with preventing or resolving factors which counteract the formation of unscheduled R-loops. For example, proteins involved in post-transcriptional RNA processing/ export (e.g., THO-complex), in the control of DNA topology during transcription (e.g., TOP1; TOP3B) or in chromatin remodeling (e.g., HDAC) prevent the formation of R-loops [19,71,73]. On the other side, RNases H proteins (RNase H1 or H2), which specifically degrade the RNA strand of the hybrid, or helicases like SETX, BLM or DDX19, which have DNA-RNA unwinding activity, belong to a multitude of cellular resolving factors. Although the mechanism is still poorly understood, components of Fanconi anemia (FA) pathway (e.g., BRCA1, BRCA2, FANCA, FANCD2, FANCM) or other damage repair factors (e.g., ATR, ATM, CHK1, CHK2) have also been implicated in the regulation of R-loop levels [71].

To date, it is still unclear what distinguishes, if any, pathological from physiological R-loops; however, when one or more of R-loop regulatory enzymes are depleted from cells and, more generally, when their regulation is altered, R-loops can cause DNA fragmentation, hyperrecombination, hypermutation, gross chromosomal rearrangements as well as UFBs and micronuclei formation [82–85], which have been implicated in the pathogenesis of several diseases, including cancer, neurological and autoimmune diseases [86–93].

2.2.1. R-loop related genome instability

How R-loops cause genome instability is still under investigation, but the higher exposure of the displaced ssDNA to spontaneous mutagenicity [77] or to the action of nucleases, deaminases and genotoxic agents has been revealed to contribute to such instability (Fig. 3). For example, the exposed single strand of Rloops can be targeted by deaminases which convert cytidine to uracil. In particular, it has been shown in yeast that Activation-Induced cytidine Deaminase, which is involved in immunoglobulin class-switch recombination, increases break/mutation/translocation rates in transcribed genes when R-loops augment after



Fig. 3. Mechanisms through which R-loops can induce genome instability. R-loopmediated genome instability is mainly related to the increase of replicationtranscription conflicts (RTCs). These can be co-directional (CD-RTCs) or head-on (HO-RTCs) depending on weather replication fork (RF) and RNA Polymerase II (RNA-PII) move in the same or opposite directions, respectively. Genome instability is also caused by nucleases, deaminases and genotoxic agents which target the singlestranded DNA of R-loops. As mentioned in the text (paragraph 2.2) the formation of a G4 structure in the single-strand displaced DNA (G-loop) further stabilizes R-loop, enhancing its detrimental effects. Created with **Biorender.com**.

mutating the THO complex [94,95]. Also in yeast, cytosine deamination by Fcy1 causes DNA breaks and contractions at CTG:CAG repeats [80], while McCann and colleagues proposed a model in which APOBEC3B deaminates displaced strands in R-loop structures [96]. Not only deaminases, but also nucleases target the ssDNA of R-loop structure likely to resolve it and leading to DSBs generation with potential recombinogenic effect. In this context, enzymes belonging to the nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway, such as XPF and XPG, have been involved in R-loop processing [97-101]. The ssDNA of R-loop structures can also fold into other non-canonical structures such as G4s, forming the so-called G-loop, as mentioned before in section 2.1.1 (Fig. 1C) [1,19,69]. In a physiological context, the formation of G4s is useful, for example, to stabilize the R-loop structure favouring the deamination necessary to immunoglobulin class switching [102,103]; however, the presence of G-loop may be deleterious as it represents an obstacle for biological processes that promotes genome instability [19,69,104,105]. In this regard, De Magis and colleagues demonstrated that the stabilization of G4s by different G4-ligands induces the spreading of co-transcriptional R-loops to nearby regions containing G4 forming sequences. As already mentioned in section 2.1.1, G-loop stabilization at these regions causes DNA damage increase, cell death and micronuclei formation depending on which ligand has been used [52].

Apart from R-loops exposure to cellular enzymes, R-loops (also in the form of G-loop) induce instability mainly by interfering with transcription and replication processes. Indeed, despite being byproducts of transcription, R-loops can hinder the same process which gave them rise. In this context, mRNA annealed to its template may represent an obstacle for the other elongating RNAPIIs causing their pausing, stalling or backtracking. This situation may lead to DNA damage since transcription blocking R-loops are subsequently processed by XPF, XPG and the transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair protein CSB [97,98]. DNA damage can subsequently be repaired thanks to BRCA1 and BRCA2 intervention with the consequent activation of FA pathway and the initiation of RAD51-dependent homology-directed repair [2,71]. BRCA1 and BRCA2 are also particularly relevant for hybrid homeostasis because they favour RNAPII elongation during transcription thus preventing R-loop formation [106-108]. Mutations in BRCA1/2, with consequent accumulation of R-loop-dependent DNA damage, have been found in breast, ovarian and other cancers. Conversely, there are cases, like the Ewing sarcoma cells, where the increased levels of R-loops cause BRCA1 sequestration thus impairing homologous recombination repair and phenocopying BRCA1deficient tumours [93,109]. BRCA1 also favours R-loops unwinding, especially during transcription termination, by recruiting SETX. The failure of SETX recruitment by BRCA1 causes R-loops increase at terminations sites [106]. On the other side, the fact that oculomotor apraxia 2 and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 4 are characterized by decreased levels of R-loops due to SETX gain of function [92,93,106] underlines how both reduced and increased levels of R-loops can be detrimental. Transcription-dependent Rloops can also alter the expression levels of genes involved in various disorders. For example, it has been reported that R-loops cause gene silencing at expanded trinucleotide repeats at FXN and FMR1 genes consequently proving an R-loop role in Friedreich's ataxia and X fragile syndromes [110,111]. Anyway, transcriptionmediated R-loop harmful effects are mostly related to the replication process.

Several studies in bacteria, yeast and human cells revealed that the major contribution of R-loops to genome instability is given by the impairment of replication processes, at least in cycling cells [71]. Indeed, R-loop structures, together with paused/blocked/ backtracked RNAPII, represent a dangerous obstacle for replication fork progression, since they cause fork stall and collapse, thus contributing to DNA damage formation. Until now, the involvement of R-loops in increasing collisions between the replication and transcription machinery (RTCs) and consequent genome instability has been well established in *E.coli*, yeast and human cells [112–114]. Depending on the reciprocal direction of replication and transcription machinery. RTCs can be head-on (HO) or co-directional (CD) (Fig. 3). The effect of these conflicts on R-loop homeostasis is still controversial since some data demonstrate that a different RTCs orientation can promote a further increase of R-loops or their resolution [115,116], while others suggest that R-loop formation is orientation-independent [117]. However, all agree that HO collisions are much more injurious, causing replication stalling and DNA damage, while the CD collisions are less detrimental maybe because of replication fork ability to dissolve R-loops [118–120]. To this extent, Promonet and co-workers showed that the alteration of R-loop homeostasis resulting from Top1 depletion causes DNA damage mainly at regions where HO conflicts take place [121]. As previously observed by Manzo et al., DNA breaks are not directly caused by Top1 removal, as Top1 depleted cells block in G0/G1 phase with minimal DNA damage despite having altered levels of Rloops [104]. However, under experimental conditions that allow the G1-S transition, cells exhibit high levels of R-loop associated damage, which has been demonstrated to be due to HO-RTCs [121]. In this context, several proteins such as topoisomerases, helicases or proteins belonging to repair pathways are engaged to protect replication fork from R-loop persistence [92]. For example, Top1 plays an important role in preventing R-loop-related genome instability, mainly by reducing negative supercoiling associated with biological processes [19]. In this regard, Marinello and colleagues showed that the blockage of Top1 by CPT poisoning causes R-loop mediated DNA damage and micronuclei increase [17]. On the other side, BRCA2 recruits RNase H2 to DSBs in S/G2 cells to allow hybrid resolution [122]. Mutations in at least one of the three subunits of RNase H2 and consequent high levels of R-loops have been found in Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome, a neuroinflammatory disease characterized by the chronic activation of the IFN-amediated immune response [80,93,123]. It has been proposed that the activation of the immune system is due to an excessive accumulation of endogenous nucleic acids, but it has not been shown whether these are micronuclei or free cytoplasmic R-loops [123]. Indeed, while immune gene activation by micronuclei has been widely studied in the last years, only few papers recently shown how cytoplasmic RNA-DNA hybrid accumulation, occurring for

example after the depletion of SETX or BRCA1, can stimulate the innate immune response by activating the cGAS-STING pathway [101,124].

Together with the mechanisms described above, it has also been proposed that chromatin modification may be involved in R-loop mediated replication instability. According to this model, R-loops may cause H3S10 phosphorylation leading to DNA condensation which, in turn, could result in a DNA replication barrier [125,126]. Such impediment could be particularly detrimental at fragile sites where a more closed chromatin, together with R-loop induced RTCs, favours replication failure [113,127]. An additional mechanism through which R-loops can promote mutagenesis is a noncanonical replication where the hybrid is used as a primer independently from the presence of a replication origin. Indeed, it has been proved that, in E. coli and in yeast, the accumulation of Rloops, given by the lack of R-loops regulating enzymes, can favour the priming of replication forks which then collapse at singlestranded nicks (exacerbated by R-loop-induced RTCs) causing an increase in mutation and amplification rates [128,129].

The alteration of replication process by R-loops has been associated with the incomplete replication of portions of DNA, since the removal of factors involved in R-loop homeostasis leads to UFBs and micronuclei accumulation. In this regard, it has already been discussed that BRCA2, TOP1 and RNaseH2 alterations cause genome instability followed by micronuclei increase. Additionally, TDP-43, a hallmark of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, has been shown to regulate R-loop accumulation preventing replication hindering and the consequent increase in DNA damage. When cells are depleted of TDP-43, they exhibit a significant increase in both UFBs and micronuclei [130]. Similarly, TOP3B null cells or cells depleted of DDX18 or DDX17 helicases show higher levels of UFBs and/or micronuclei compared to control cells, probably because they are less effective in preventing replication stress consequences [131–133]. It has also been shown that the alteration of R-loop homeostasis by drugs, such as Top1 poisons or G4 binders, can cause UFBs and micronuclei increase and that RNaseH overexpression reverses this phenotype [17]. However, if such increase is due to the impairment of replication needs to be further verified. The discovery that R-loop modulation can lead to micronuclei production or cytoplasmic hybrids accumulation is very interesting as the atypical activation of immune response may be implicated in the onset of several diseases and, at the same time, opens new perspectives for the development of effective and personalized strategies especially for cancer treatment.

2.3. I-motifs

i-motifs are four-stranded DNA secondary structures that can form in cytosine-rich sequences. They consist of two parallelstranded DNA duplexes held together in an antiparallel fashion by intercalated cytosine-cytosine base pairing (Fig. 4A). Given the complementarity of their sequences, G4s and i-motif may form in opposite strands at the same location of a duplex DNA. There is conflicting evidence regarding the fact that G4 and i-motif structures can be folded simultaneously or whether they are mutually exclusive. Recently, it has been demonstrated that the simultaneous formation of G4 and i-motif structures in the two complementary strands seems to depend on the length of the related sequences [2,3]. In short sequences, G4 and i-motif formation is mutually exclusive due to steric hindrance, while longer sequences allow the formation of both structures [2,3]. Until now, i-motif structures have been strictly associated with G4s and their characterization has mostly been performed with in vitro experiments. Only recently, the *in vivo* identification of i-motif structures provided evidence that they form in regulatory regions of the human



Fig. 4. i-motif secondary structure. (A) Schematic representation of i-motif characterized by cytosine-cytosine base pairing and (B) i-motif-induced deletions model. During DNA replication, i-motif formation can inhibit the progression of DNA polymerase, provoking replisome uncoupling and fork arrest. Non-resolution of i-motif before the end of replication causes deletions that occur in i-motif forming sequence (green DNA region). Created with Biorender.com.

genome, including promoter and telomeric regions, suggesting that they have key roles in the regulation of main biological processes [134]. For example, i-motif formation has been detected in vivo in the promoter region of E2A gene which encodes a transcription factor known to be essential for immunoglobulin gene recombination and early B cell development [135]. Interestingly, a dynamic i-motif structure in the HIV-1 long terminal repeat (LTR) seems to negatively regulate HIV-1 transcription, suggesting a role for imotif structure in modulating viral transcription [146]. i-motif forming sequence has also been found in the promoter region of oncogenes, such as HRAS, VEGF, c-Myc and Bcl2 [25], and i-motif folding in the promoter region of these genes has been demonstrated to modulate their expression level by recruiting different regulatory binding proteins [25,136]. Dysregulation of these genes is known to trigger a dynamic process of genomic instability that is linked to tumour initiation. Indeed, Myc deregulation can affect copy number of certain genes and induce karyotypic instability, which results in a variety of chromosomal changes [137]. Bcl2, instead, is known to prevent genome instability by downregulating the Non-Homologous End Joining pathway involved in DSB repair and V(D)] recombination [138]. Besides oncogenes, imotif structure is also located in the insulin minisatellite region [139], which is strongly linked to the genetic susceptibility of insulin dependent diabetes mellitus [140]. Therefore, alteration in imotif formation can have a negative impact on genome stability and lead to the development of diseases.

2.3.1. i-motif related genome instability

How i-motifs promote genome instability is still under investigation. However, recent in vivo and in vitro data provide evidence that i-motifs can impair DNA replication leading to DNA breaks and deletion events that can ultimately affect genome stability [21,141,142]. Martella and colleagues discovered that deletion events at d(TCCC)_n elements in the human PC3 cell line could be due to i-motif formation at these repetitive sites [141]. They propose that i-motif stabilization in vivo provides a replication impediment that, if not resolved before the end of the replication process, can lead to deletions in the subsequent replication cell cycle [141] (Fig. 4B). A more recent study better elucidates how imotif structures can affect the eukaryotic replisome inducing replication fork arrest and DNA breakage in vitro [142]. They demonstrated that i-motifs arising during DNA replication can induce fork arrest by impairing DNA synthesis leading to helicasepolymerase uncoupling and ssDNA exposure. Excessive replisome

uncoupling is known to induce an accumulation of ssDNA which can lead to RPA exhaustion and massive DNA breakage, resulting in irreversible fork collapse and DNA replication arrest [143]. Consistent with this, the authors also observed that i-motifs, if not promptly unwound by Pif1 helicase activity during replication, can lead to the breakage of nascent DNA [142]. DNA breaks, along with unstable exposure of ssDNA can also contribute to recombination and mutation events that affect genome stability. Overall, these findings provide insight into the mechanistic understanding of how i-motif structures can contribute to genome instability and impair DNA replication. Moreover, a direct correlation between i-motif stabilization and genome instability can be proved by data obtained from Qu and co-workers [144]. They demonstrate that i-motif stabilization in human telomeres with single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) ligand [145] inhibits telomerase activity in living K562 and HeLa cells, resulting in telomere-binding proteins displacement, telomere uncapping, DNA damage and apoptosis [144]. SWNTs inhibit telomerase favouring duplex dissociation and a further subsequent i-motif stabilization that, in turn, facilitates the induction of G4 structure [144,145], which is already known to inhibit telomerase [146]. Further investigations are needed to clarify the biological roles of i-motif structures in vivo and their interplay with G4 structures. However, the evidence that i-motif structures have regulatory functions suggests that targeting these structures with small molecules could have potential therapeutic application for genetic disease.

2.4. Hairpins, cruciforms and slipped strand DNA structures

Hairpin structures form when a single-stranded nucleic acid (either DNA or RNA) folds back on itself resulting in a stem-loop structure [147] (Fig. 5A). During biological processes, such as replication and transcription, the formation of hairpins can occur at perfect or non-perfect inverted repeats, also called perfect-palindrome or quasi-palindrome [148–150]. RNA hairpins form as a consequence of RNA folding during the transcription of an inverted-repeat DNA template [151]. On the other hand, DNA hairpins originate during both replication and transcription as the presence of a single strand facilitates the folding of the structure. When two hairpins form on opposing DNA strands, this results in more complex structures similar to Holliday junctions and called cruciforms (Fig. 5A) [152–154]. While hairpin formation is energetically favourable, the formation of cruciform requires energy and negative super-helicity can provide it [9,152,155]. Both hairpins and



Fig. 5. Schematic representation of DNA loop structures and triplexes. (A) DNA loop structures include Hairpin, Slipped strand DNA and Cruciform structures. (B) Intermolecular triplexes form when an independent triplex-forming oligonucleotide (TFO) anneals to the double strand nucleic acid (Top). Intramolecular triplexes form when the same DNA or RNA strand folds back binding to the duplex of origin (Bottom). DNA folding-back strand in green.

cruciforms have several structural elements that can be recognized by different proteins contributing to various physiological functions [156–158]. For example, hairpin structure forming at 3'UTR of histone mRNA is recognized by the stem-loop binding protein (SLBP), allowing mRNA post-transcriptional processing [158], while hairpin recognition and processing by Artemis:DNA-PKcs is a fundamental step of non-homologous end joining and V(D)J recombination [159,160]. Brázda and colleagues also described that junction-resolving enzymes, DNA repair and transcription factors as well as replication and chromatin associated proteins can specifically recognize the DNA stem-loop structure or the four-way junction conformation with a much higher affinity for cruciform structures than for linear sequences [157]. Although these structures have physiological functions, their uncontrolled formation can hinder biological processes resulting in DSBs and genome instability which have been linked to certain diseases [161–164].

2.4.1. DNA loop structures related genome instability

To better understand DNA hairpin and cruciform related genome instability, several studies have been carried-out in vitro as well as in Escherichia coli, Saccharomyces cerevisiae and in mammalian cells. These studies have shown that hairpin and cruciform related instability is induced by both replicationdependent and replication-independent mechanisms. In the first case, the formation of hairpins, more than cruciforms, causes DNA polymerase stalling [165–167] and the most common outcome is the deletion or the expansion of the hairpin forming sequence. In particular, if hairpins form at the template strand, deletions are more likely to occur as DNA polymerase can bypass the hairpin structures (Fig. 6A). On the other side, when the secondary structures form at the newly synthesized fragment, expansion of the DNA sequence will occur, as the slippage of DNA polymerase causes the backward realignment of nascent strand [168–171] (Fig. 6B). During the DNA polymerase shifting, which is characterized by the misalignment of DNA strands, a loop-structure defined Slipped strand DNA may form [169,172,173] (Fig. 5A). Slipped strand DNA structures are known to form at direct repeats [174,175], more specifically at (CTG)n:(CAG)n, (CGG)n:(CCG)n and (CCTG)n:(CAGG) n sequences. When the loop sequence of Slipped strand DNAs is partially self-complementary, they can fold forming hairpin

structures. The coexistence of hairpins and Slipped strand DNA structures in the same DNA region increases their stability favouring the occurrence of replication errors [175,176]. When these structures impair replication, it has also been observed the increasing of fork collapse chances and DNA damage due to mechanical breakage or nuclease activity of repair/resolvase enzymes which operate to promote a complete DNA synthesis. For example, several studies reported that MSH2-MSH3 proteins, members of the mismatch repair complex, bind hairpins and/or Slipped strand DNA structures involved in trinucleotide repeat expansion [177-179], already associated with neurological diseases. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that the SbcCD complex cleaves the hairpins formed during lagging- and leading-strand DNA synthesis [171,180,181] generating DSBs [182]. The same function might be exerted by Mre11/Rad50/Xrs2 and Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 in veast and human cells, respectively [183–185]. Interestingly, Zhang et al. proposed a hairpin-bypass mechanism to complete DNA synthesis which depends on the template switching activity. This process leads to the formation of an intermediate cruciform structure which is subsequently cut by specific endonucleases [186] contributing to DNA damage formation and replication-related genome instability.

While in E. coli these structures are known to cause genome instability exclusively in relation to the replication process [171,180,181], in eukaryotes additional mechanisms are involved [166]. Indeed, DNA breakage can also be the consequence of replication-independent cruciform cleavages. For example, it is known that there are structure-specific nucleases such as ERCC1-XPF [182] or the Hollyday-junction resolvase GEN1 [187] which cleave cruciform structures in a context indendent from replication. Moreover, it has been shown that the formation of hairpins along mRNA can interrupt the transcription process [188–190] or pause/ stall ribosome motion [191] with the consequent accumulation of incomplete products and endo-nucleolytic cleavage of mRNA [192,193]. Until now, these molecular processes concerning RNA hairpins have only been studied in vitro, hence, further experiments are needed to fully understand the mechanism and its consequences in vivo.

To date, the involvement of hairpins/cruciforms in the onset of human diseases is still under investigation. Researchers' efforts



Fig. 6. Hairpin structures and triplexes as a source of genome instability. (A, B) The formation of hairpins during the replication process can cause deletions or expansions of the hairpin forming sequence (in green) as a consequence of DNA polymerase slippage. **(A)** When the DNA polymerase encounters a stable hairpin on the template strand, it can detach from the template and the 3' end of the newly synthesized DNA (orange DNA region) can anneal to another complementary sequence downstream the hairpin structure. The deletion of the hairpin forming sequence will be the result of the next replication cycle. **(B)** Alternatively, when replication fork encounters an obstacle, the DNA polymerase, together with the nascent strand, can slide backwards. The reannealing to a different complementary region gives rise to a hairpin in the newly synthesized strand causing expansions at the next replication cycle. **(C)** Intramolecular triplexes can be recognized by repair enzymes like ERCC1-XPF and XPG. XPF cleaves the loop between the strands annealed through Hoogsteen bonds while XPG cleaves the s5DNA at the 5'end of Watson-Crick base-paired duplex. Triplex cleavage by XPF and XPG causes an increase of DNA breakage and genome instability. Created with Biorender.com.

have allowed us to discover that HER2-positive breast tumours are characterized by the duplication of palindromic sequences in the ERBB2 oncogene [194] and that hairpins are involved in the expansion of triplet repeat in Friedreich's Ataxia [164]. We also know that DSBs caused by hairpin and cruciform structures, if not further processed and repaired, result in gross chromosomal rearrangements such as translocations [195]. Until now, only few studies have directly determined the involvement of such structures in the occurrence of translocations [187,196,197]; however, breakpoint regions have been found to be located in palindromic DNA portions that are prone to form hairpins/cruciforms in both somatic and germ cells [163,182,197-199]. An example is the palindrome-mediated t(11:22) reciprocal translocation found in Emanuel syndrome which is characterized by mental disability, microcephaly, heart defects and genital anomalies in males [199]. Despite the progress, little is known about these specific structures and additional studies are necessary to understand how they contribute to human diseases.

2.5. Triplexes

Triple helical DNA (Triplexes) are structures composed of three strands of only DNA or RNA as well as a mix of both (Fig. 5B). Triplexes can form when a polypurine (R) or polypyrimidine (Y) single strand, called triplex-forming oligonucleotide (TFO), binds to the major groove of a R:Y duplex in a sequence specific manner [200,201]. TFO pairs specifically to the purine strand through Hoogsten (Y:R*Y) or reverse Hoogsten (Y:R*R) bonds, according to the direction of the TFO with respect to the duplex. Depending on the origin of the third strand, we distinguish between intermolecular or intramolecular triplexes (Fig. 5B). Intermolecular

triplexes form when an independent TFO pairs to the double strand nucleic acid, whereas intramolecular structures form when the same DNA/RNA strand folds back on itself and binds to the duplex. Intramolecular DNA triplexes are called H-DNAs (hinged DNA) or *H-DNAs depending on whether the third strand is rich in pyrimidine or purine, respectively. While H-DNAs form exclusively at R:Y regions containing mirror repeats [202], *H-DNA can also form at non-mirror repeats and at non-homopurine/homopyrimidine regions, even with some mismatches [203–206]. Different triplex conformations depend on bonds direction and stability, which are given by the base identity, pH of the surrounding environment, backbone distortion adopted by the triplex, negative super-helicity and presence of divalent cations [156,173,182]. Conditions as negative super-helicity and presence of divalent cations in $(GAA \bullet TTC) > 59$ repeats allow the formation of more complex structures called sticky DNA. The exact conformation of these structures has not vet been elucidated, although they were initially described as bi-triplex structures [207] and subsequently redefined as long and stable Y:R*R triplexes [208].

2.5.1. Triplexes related genome instability

The biological function of DNA triplexes is not yet clear, however, it is well established that they represent a hot-spot for DNA mutations [209] and that they hinder biological processes causing human diseases. Indeed, together with the other NCSs, triplexes can block ongoing DNA polymerases especially at repeated regions such as mirror repeats or trinucleotide repeats [210,211]. Fork stalling due to the presence of these structures has been linked to the development of the Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease [211], a disorder characterized by the growth of cysts within the kidneys and caused by the occurrence of mutations in the *PKD1* and *PKD2* genes. Indeed, *PKD1* contains a very large R:Y tract able to form triplex structures [212,213] which can block DNA replication causing DNA damage and gross deletions [214,215].

The presence of triplex structures during replication processes can also lead to the expansion of the replicated region caused by polymerase slippage, as already described for hairpins and Slipped strand DNAs. To this extent. Gacv and co-workers demonstrated that the formation of triplex structures impairs the replication process thus causing triplet expansion in the FXN gene, which is associated with Friedreich's ataxia disease [216]. More in detail, the autosomal disease is caused by the expansion of a (GAA)*n* repeat contained in the FXN gene [217,218]. The additional formation of non-B DNA structures inhibits the transcription process. While secondary structures such as triplexes or R-loops act as pausing sites for RNPII, sticky DNA inhibits transcription by sequestering RNA polymerase which directly binds the structure [219–221]. About transcription impairment, both in vitro and in vivo experiments have already shown that the presence of triplexes, which can be further stabilized by the hybridization of the RNA to its template (R-loop), can block the transcription process in the presence of Mn^{2+} or high concentrations of K^+ and Li^+ [222,223]. The inhibition of transcription by triplex structures has also been associated with cancer occurrence as the regulation of certain cancer-associated genes is altered when they form at the promoter of such genes. For example, it has been shown that H-DNAs represent an obstacle for transcription machinery at the *c*-Myc promoter [224,225] and that triple helices forming near the TATA box of the ATP1A2 gene can cause its downregulation [226] which has been associated with breast cancer [227].

It has also been suggested that NER and other repair enzymes contribute to triplex related mutagenesis since they recognize and cleave triple helices as if they were "DNA damage" [215,228-230]. Interestingly, Zhao and colleagues recently demonstrated that ERCC1-XPF and XPG not only cleave H-DNAs during replication but also in a replication independent context causing genome instability (Fig. 6C), while triplex cleavage by FEN1 endonuclease, protects DNA during replication. XPF cleaves a specific loop of the H-DNA suggesting that the cleavage is structure specific (Fig. 6C). Interestingly, its deficiency results in a reduction of mutation rate and alters the distribution of H-DNA related breakpoints [231]. In line with other published evidence [231,232], the paper also reports that long triplex forming sequences are particularly enriched at translocation breakpoints in human cancer cells implicating triplexes in cancer etiology. In support of this, it has been shown that H-DNAs may form in the promoter of c-Myc gene nearby the t(8; 14) translocation breakpoint associated with lymphomas [209,233] while the t(14; 18) translocation at the Bcl-2 major breakpoint region detected in follicular lymphoma is caused by RAG complex cleavage induced by triplexes [234,235]. Moreover, Zhao and colleagues demonstrated that H-DNA forming sequences at breakpoint hot-spot are longer than in other tracts, which means that they can fold into more stable H-DNA causing DNA damage and translocation events [231].

In parallel with the study of DNA triplexes, the formation of RNA and RNA-DNA triplexes, previously reviewed in Refs. [200,230,236], has also caught the interest of the scientific community. RNA triplexes turned particularly interesting as it has been demonstrated the existence of non-coding RNAs which are stabilized in triplex structures consequently accumulating into cells and leading to cancer development [200,237–239]. On the other side, there are non-coding RNAs forming miRNA–DNA:DNA triplexes which can modulate gene expression by inducing DNA methylation [240] or adopting a still unknown mechanism independent from chromatin modifiers [241]. It has also been suggested that microRNAs synthesized from retroviruses or transposons may form triple helices

with the DNA region that gave them rise, thereby inhibiting its replication [242]. The fact that TFOs can target genes leading to the formation of triplexes with the ability to control gene expression and other biological processes, revealed their therapeutic potential. Several studies have been conducted to evaluate the usage of synthetic TFOs in Duchenne muscular dystrophy, HIV infection or cancer treatment by downregulating the expression of target genes or by carrying drugs [243]. To date, such TFOs have not yet been utilized in a therapeutic context and further studies are needed to properly exploit that tool.

2.6. Z-DNA

Z-DNA structure, first described in the late 1970 [244], is a lefthanded structure that occurs most frequently in alternating purine/ pyrimidine (d(Pu/Py) or d(Py/Pu)) repeat sequences [245] such as $CG_{(14)}$ repeats (Fig. 7A). Sequences with the potential to adopt Z-DNA are abundant in eukaryotic genomes and occur approximately once every 3000 bp in the human genome [246]. B-DNA to Z-DNA transition in vivo is a dynamic process and can occur in certain conditions such as in the presence of negative supercoiling, Z-DNA binding proteins and base modifications [247]. During transcription, the movement of RNA polymerases generates negative supercoiling behind the polymerase that stabilizes Z-DNA conformation at permissive regions. DNA unwrapping from nucleosomes also induces negative supercoiling that can lead to Z-DNA formation [248,249], and its subsequent stabilization contributes to maintain the chromatin in an open state, positively regulating transcription initiation. If not resolved, Z-DNA represents a barrier for the DNA to be re-wrapped into nucleosomes leaving this DNA region in an open chromatin state for a longer period compared to normal conditions [250]. Several proteins have the ability to recognize and bind Z-DNA making this structure a cis-element in gene regulation [247,251]. Among these proteins the doublestranded RNA adenosine deaminase ADAR-1, the tumour-related protein DML-1 and the vaccinia virus EL3 protein have been extensively studied for their binding affinity to Z-DNA/RNA (as also dsRNA can adopt a Z conformation) [247]. In a study conducted by Oh et al. [251] it was demonstrated that the human ADAR-1 protein can modulate transcription by stabilizing Z-DNA structure at a promoter region. In addition, the binding of ADAR-1 to Z-DNA/RNA has been shown to enhance its efficiency in A-to-I editing, a process that involves the conversion of adenosine (A) to inosine (I) in RNA molecule [252]. These results suggest that ADAR-1 interaction with Z-DNA/RNA is important to exert its role in gene regulation also at a post-transcriptional level. Interestingly, the RNA-editing activity of ADAR-1 plays an essential role in suppressing the innate immune activation, since it marks the dsRNA as self through A-to-I editing thus preventing autoimmune-related diseases [253,254]. Accordingly, mutations in the sequence encoding the Z-structure binding domain of ADAR-1 cause the autoimmune disorder Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome, by inducing an up-regulation of interferon stimulated genes [254]. In a recent article it has been revealed that the immunopathology caused by ADAR-1 mutation in mice is dependent on the activity of another Z-DNA binding protein, known as DML-1 (also called ZBP1) that activate the innate immune response by acting as a cytosolic DNA sensor [255]. Similarly, in the context of viral infection, the ability to bind Z-DNA is essential for the EL3 protein to exert its activity in promoting viral pathogenicity in mice [256]. Overall, these data provide evidence that the Zstructure binding domain of ADAR-1, DML-1 and EL3 proteins is important for their proper function in the immune pathway suggesting that Z-DNA conformation may have a crucial role in regulating the innate immune response. Therefore, a better understanding of the molecular mechanism underlying the



Fig. 7. Z-DNA secondary structure. (A) Schematic representation of the left-handed "zig-zag" nature of the Z-DNA backbone with canonical B-DNA on the ends. B-Z junction and extruded bases are underlined. (B) Molecular model through which Z-DNA induces DSBs and large-scale deletions, features of Z-DNA mediated genome instability. Z-DNA can be recognized by MSH2-MSH3 repair complex which recruits specific nucleases such as ERCC1-XPF leading to the processing of Z-DNA.

interplay between Z-DNA/RNA and these proteins in vivo could provide insight into the pathogenesis of autoinflammatory disease potentially leading to the development of targeted therapies for these pathologies. Evidence supporting that Z-DNA structure may have key biological roles in human cells is also provided by Shin and co-workers [257]. They performed a ChIP-seq analysis demonstrating that Z-DNA-forming sites are enriched in promoter regions that are also occupied by RNAPII and, through a reporter assay system, they associated Z-DNA with active transcription [257]. Several disease-related genes, including oncogenes, are transcriptionally regulated by Z-DNA [258]. This is the case of *c-Myc*, CSF-1 and HO-1 genes, whose expression levels increase after Z-DNA formation and stabilization in their promoter regions [259,260]. Conversely, the ADAM-12 promoter contains a Z-DNA-forming sequence (ZFS) that negatively regulates ADAM-12 expression in normal cells [261]. Loss of this ZFS element leads to overexpression of ADAM-12, which is commonly observed in various human cancers that are usually associated with a poor prognosis, such as the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and triple-negative breast cancer [262,263]. Taken together, the formation of Z-DNA in the promoter region of these genes can modulate their expression levels, potentially affecting cellular behaviour and genome stability. The molecular mechanism through which Z-DNA structure mediates the expression levels of these disease-related genes is still not fully defined. However, current studies suggest that Z-DNA formation in the promoter region may induce changes in the chromatin structure that in turn can modify the accessibility of the DNA, affecting the recruitment and binding of proteins or complexes involved in the regulation of the transcriptional process [258].

2.6.1. Z-DNA related genome instability

It is known that the modified physical characteristics of a region surrounding the Z-DNA structure may increase its susceptibility to DNA damage and enzymatic cleavage, leading to increased localized genetic instability. This can result in a variety of outcomes, including deletions, rearrangements, and mutations [264]. The molecular mechanism of Z-DNA-induced genomic instability is still not defined. However, it is currently known that Z-DNA induces genomic instability in terms of large-scale deletions and gross chromosomal rearrangements in both yeast and human cells with a mechanism independent from DNA replication and in which are involved components of repair processing [265]. Wang et al. demonstrated that Z-DNA forming sequences in human cancer cells are hot-spots of chromosomal breakpoints, responsible of genetic instability as they cause gene translocation in leukemias and lymphomas [247]. Multiple Z-DNA motifs have also been found near

breakpoints in the c-Myc P1 promoter, in the breakage hot-spot of Bcl-2 gene and nearby chromosomal translocation that occur in DNA regions rich in immunoglobin-related genes, that are closely related to blood cancers [258]. Z-DNA has also been linked to the generation of DBSs along the human and mice genomes [265,266]. Indeed, DSBs have been found at Z-DNA forming sequence, suggesting that large-scale deletions and breakpoints could originate from DNA cleavage that occurs near the Z-DNA structure [173]. Recently Mc Kinney et al. demonstrated that ERCC1-XPF and MSH2-MSH3 interact with Z-DNA and are required for Z-DNA-induced genomic instability in yeast and human cells [267]. In their proposed model Z-DNA is recognized by MSH2-MSH3 repair complex as "a damage event" and recruits the structure-specific nucleases ERCC1-XPF which then process Z-DNA (Fig. 7B). This DNA processing can lead to DSBs generation, probably resulting in largescale deletions or translocations near or at the site of Z-DNA forming sequences. Interestingly, the interaction of these proteins with Z-DNA appears to be outside of their canonical role in NER and Mismatch repair pathways and differs from their role in triplexinduced genomic instability, which requires the canonical NER mechanism [173,267].

3. Conclusion

Non-canonical DNA and RNA structures play an important role in the regulation of biological processes; however, their unscheduled formation and/or stabilization triggers mutagenic mechanisms consequently leading to human diseases. In this review, we described the principal non-canonical DNA and RNA structures focusing on the mechanisms through which they alter genome stability. Among the proposed mechanisms, impairment of replication and transcription processes seems to be particularly relevant, even if published data underline that repair proteins may have a significant role in genome instability induced by noncanonical structures. There is still much to know about these structures, even if remarkable progress has been made in the last decades thanks to the development of specific experimental and bioinformatic tools [201]. The growing interest of the scientific community in these structures lies in the possibility of using them as therapeutic targets by regulating gene expression or hampering the replication process. In this vein, researchers have already tested the usage of exogenous TFOs allowing the formation of sequence specific triplexes that inhibit the expression of *c-Myc* [268] and other disease related genes [9]. Interestingly, experiments conducted in rats showed that triplex-mediated inhibition of MET (protein associated with several human cancers), leads to cell death

and tumour regression in hepatoma [269]. Several studies have also provided much insight into G4 stabilizing compounds with therapeutic activity, particularly anticancer effects. How G4 binders work has already been extensively reviewed [9,18,19] with particular attention to their immunostimulatory activity. Indeed, despite efforts, only a few G4 binders have reached early phases of clinical trials and none of them have shown good efficacy in cancer patients. Looking for non-cytotoxicity effects of G4 binders, researchers have shown that they can activate the innate immune gene response suggesting that such compounds can be used in the context of immunotherapy [18]. Even if not directly targeted, Rloops are also important in the development of strategies for the treatment of human diseases. In this regard, inhibition or removal of R-loop binding proteins increases tumour sensitivity to chemotherapy [92,270] while drugs that alter R-loop homeostasis such as CPT analogues are already used in the standard treatment of human ovary, colon, and lung cancers. Interestingly, recent discoveries revealed R-loop dependent mechanisms which stimulate innate immune genes [17,101,124]. In particular, Top1 poisons trigger immune gene expression depending on the presence of the cGAS/ STING pathway suggesting the potential use of anticancer drugs to improve precision medicine strategies [17]. These and other findings highlight the importance of understanding the specific properties and related functioning of non-B DNA structures in order to develop new therapeutic strategies for the treatment of human diseases.

Acknowledgements

We want to thank lab members for valuable discussion. Our research activity has received funding from AIRC (Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro, Milan, Italy) [IG 2019 - ID. 23032 project – P.I. Capranico Giovanni]. R.C.D. is a recipient of a FIRC-AIRC postdoc fellowship for Italy [26701].

References

- M.L. Duquette, P. Handa, J.A. Vincent, A.F. Taylor, N. Maizels, Intracellular transcription of G-rich DNAs induces formation of G-loops, novel structures containing G4 DNA, Genes Dev. 18 (13) (Jul. 2004) 1618–1629, https:// doi.org/10.1101/gad.1200804.
- [2] Y. Cui, D. Kong, C. Ghimire, C. Xu, H. Mao, Mutually exclusive formation of Gquadruplex and i-motif is a general phenomenon governed by steric hindrance in duplex DNA, Biochemistry 55 (15) (Apr. 2016) 2291–2299, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.6b00016.
- [3] P. Wolski, K. Nieszporek, T. Panczyk, G-quadruplex and I-motif structures within the telomeric DNA duplex. A molecular dynamics analysis of protonation states as factors affecting their stability, J. Phys. Chem. B 123 (2) (Jan. 2019) 468–479, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.8b11547.
- [4] F. Kouzine, et al., Permanganate/S1 nuclease footprinting reveals non-B DNA structures with regulatory potential across a mammalian genome, Cell Syst. 4 (3) (2017) 344–356, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2017.01.013, e7, Mar.
- [5] S. Sharma, Non-B DNA secondary structures and their resolution by RecQ helicases, J. Nucleic Acids (2011) 1–15, https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/ 724215, 2011.
- [6] A.-S. Boyer, S. Grgurevic, C. Cazaux, J.-S. Hoffmann, The human specialized DNA polymerases and non-B DNA: vital relationships to preserve genome integrity, J. Mol. Biol. 425 (23) (Nov. 2013) 4767–4781, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.09.022.
- [7] S. Kaushal, C.H. Freudenreich, The role of fork stalling and DNA structures in causing chromosome fragility, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 58 (5) (May 2019) 270–283, https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.22721.
- [8] J.A. McKinney, G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, Distinct mechanisms of mutagenic processing of alternative DNA structures by repair proteins, Mol. Cell Oncol. 7 (3) (May 2020) 1743807, https://doi.org/10.1080/23723556.2020.1743807.
- [9] A. Bansal, S. Kaushik, S. Kukreti, Non-canonical DNA structures: diversity and disease association, Front. Genet. 13 (Sep. 2022), https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgene.2022.959258.
- [10] D.-H. Bach, W. Zhang, A.K. Sood, Chromosomal instability in tumor initiation and development, Cancer Res. 79 (16) (Aug. 2019) 3995–4002, https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3235.
- [11] N. Andor, C.C. Maley, H.P. Ji, Genomic instability in cancer: teetering on the limit of tolerance, Cancer Res. 77 (9) (May 2017) 2179–2185, https://doi.org/

10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1553.

- [12] R. Hanna, A. Flamier, A. Barabino, G. Bernier, G-quadruplexes originating from evolutionary conserved L1 elements interfere with neuronal gene expression in Alzheimer's disease, Nat. Commun. 12 (1) (Mar. 2021) 1828, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22129-9.
- [13] T.G.A. Reuvers, R. Kanaar, J. Nonnekens, DNA damage-inducing anticancer therapies: from global to precision damage, Cancers (Basel) 12 (8) (Jul. 2020) 2098, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12082098.
- [14] A. Cristini, et al., RNase H2, mutated in Aicardi-Goutières syndrome, resolves co-transcriptional R-loops to prevent DNA breaks and inflammation, Nat. Commun. 13 (1) (May 2022) 2961, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30604-0.
- [15] T. Hanscom, M. McVey, Regulation of error-prone DNA double-strand break repair and its impact on genome evolution, Cells 9 (7) (Jul. 2020) 1657, https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9071657.
- [16] S.F. Bakhoum, L.C. Cantley, The multifaceted role of chromosomal instability in cancer and its microenvironment, Cell 174 (6) (Sep. 2018) 1347–1360, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.027.
- [17] J. Marinello, et al., Topoisomerase I poison-triggered immune gene activation is markedly reduced in human small-cell lung cancers by impairment of the cGAS/STING pathway, Br. J. Cancer 127 (7) (Oct. 2022) 1214–1225, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41416-022-01894-4.
- [18] G. Miglietta, J. Marinello, M. Russo, G. Capranico, Ligands stimulating antitumour immunity as the next G-quadruplex challenge, Mol. Cancer 21 (1) (Sep. 2022) 180, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-022-01649-y.
- [19] G. Miglietta, M. Russo, G. Capranico, G-quadruplex-R-loop interactions and the mechanism of anticancer G-quadruplex binders, Nucleic Acids Res. 48 (21) (Dec. 2020) 11942-11957, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa944.
- [20] C.C. Hardin, A.G. Perry, K. White, Thermodynamic and kinetic characterization of the dissociation and assembly of quadruplex nucleic acids, Biopolymers 56 (3) (2000) 147–194, https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0282(2000/ 2001)56:3<147::AID-BIP10011>30.CO;2-N.
- [21] A. Guédin, J. Gros, P. Alberti, J.-L. Mergny, How long is too long? Effects of loop size on G-quadruplex stability, Nucleic Acids Res. 38 (21) (Nov. 2010) 7858-7868, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq639.
- [22] A. Bedrat, L. Lacroix, J.-L. Mergny, Re-evaluation of G-quadruplex propensity with G4Hunter, Nucleic Acids Res. 44 (4) (Feb. 2016) 1746–1759, https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw006.
- [23] J.L. Huppert, Prevalence of quadruplexes in the human genome, Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (9) (May 2005) 2908–2916, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gki609.
- [24] V.S. Chambers, G. Marsico, J.M. Boutell, M. Di Antonio, G.P. Smith, S. Balasubramanian, High-throughput sequencing of DNA G-quadruplex structures in the human genome, Nat. Biotechnol. 33 (8) (Aug. 2015) 877–881, https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3295.
- [25] T.A. Brooks, S. Kendrick, L. Hurley, Making sense of G-quadruplex and i-motif functions in oncogene promoters, FEBS J. 277 (17) (Sep. 2010) 3459–3469, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07759.x.
- [26] R. Hänsel-Hertsch, et al., G-quadruplex structures mark human regulatory chromatin, Nat. Genet. 48 (10) (Oct. 2016) 1267–1272, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.3662.
- [27] D. Varshney, J. Spiegel, K. Zyner, D. Tannahill, S. Balasubramanian, The regulation and functions of DNA and RNA G-quadruplexes, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 21 (8) (Aug. 2020) 459–474, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0236x.
- [28] J. Robinson, F. Raguseo, S.P. Nuccio, D. Liano, M. Di Antonio, DNA G-quadruplex structures: more than simple roadblocks to transcription? Nucleic Acids Res. 49 (15) (Sep. 2021) 8419–8431, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkab609.
- [29] J.L. Huppert, S. Balasubramanian, G-quadruplexes in promoters throughout the human genome, Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (2) (Jan. 2007) 406–413, https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkl1057.
- [30] A.P. David, E. Margarit, P. Domizi, C. Banchio, P. Armas, N.B. Calcaterra, Gquadruplexes as novel cis-elements controlling transcription during embryonic development, Nucleic Acids Res. 44 (9) (May 2016) 4163–4173, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw011.
- [31] N. Saranathan, P. Vivekanandan, G-quadruplexes: more than just a kink in microbial genomes, Trends Microbiol. 27 (2) (Feb. 2019) 148–163, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2018.08.011.
- [32] K. Tsukakoshi, S. Saito, W. Yoshida, S. Goto, K. Ikebukuro, CpG methylation changes G-quadruplex structures derived from gene promoters and interaction with VEGF and SP1, Molecules 23 (4) (Apr. 2018) 944, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules23040944.
- [33] S. Selvam, D. Koirala, Z. Yu, H. Mao, Quantification of topological coupling between DNA superhelicity and G-quadruplex formation, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136 (40) (Oct. 2014) 13967–13970, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja5064394.
- [34] H. Sun, J.K. Karow, I.D. Hickson, N. Maizels, The bloom's syndrome helicase unwinds G4 DNA, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (42) (Oct. 1998) 27587–27592, https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.42.27587.
- [35] Y. Wu, K. Shin-ya, R.M. Brosh, FANCJ helicase defective in fanconia anemia and breast cancer unwinds G-quadruplex DNA to defend genomic stability, Mol. Cell Biol. 28 (12) (Jun. 2008) 4116–4128, https://doi.org/10.1128/ MCB.02210-07.
- [36] N. Kim, S. Jinks-Robertson, Guanine repeat-containing sequences confer transcription-dependent instability in an orientation-specific manner in

yeast, DNA Repair (Amst) 10 (9) (Sep. 2011) 953-960, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dnarep.2011.07.002.

- [37] G. Guilbaud, et al., Local epigenetic reprogramming induced by G-quadruplex ligands, Nat. Chem. 9 (11) (Nov. 2017) 1110–1117, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nchem.2828.
- [38] R. Rodriguez, et al., Small-molecule-induced DNA damage identifies alternative DNA structures in human genes, Nat. Chem. Biol. 8 (3) (Mar. 2012) 301-310, https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.780.
- [39] C. Li, et al., Ligand-induced native G-quadruplex stabilization impairs transcription initiation, Genome Res. 31 (9) (Sep. 2021) 1546–1560, https:// doi.org/10.1101/gr.275431.121.
- [40] Y. Qin, L.H. Hurley, Structures, folding patterns, and functions of intramolecular DNA G-quadruplexes found in eukaryotic promoter regions, Biochimie 90 (8) (Aug. 2008) 1149–1171, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biochi.2008.02.020.
- [41] E. Wang, R. Thombre, Y. Shah, R. Latanich, J. Wang, G-Quadruplexes as pathogenic drivers in neurodegenerative disorders, Nucleic Acids Res. 49 (9) (May 2021) 4816–4830, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab164.
- [42] J. Zhao, et al., Distinct mechanisms of nuclease-directed DNA-structureinduced genetic instability in cancer genomes, Cell Rep. 22 (5) (Jan. 2018) 1200–1210, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.01.014.
- [43] S. De, F. Michor, DNA secondary structures and epigenetic determinants of cancer genome evolution, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 18 (8) (Aug. 2011) 950–955, https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2089.
- [44] L.K. Lerner, J.E. Sale, Replication of G Quadruplex DNA, Genes (Basel) 10 (2) (Jan. 2019) 95, https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10020095.
- [45] G. Marsico, et al., Whole genome experimental maps of DNA G-quadruplexes in multiple species, Nucleic Acids Res. 47 (8) (May 2019) 3862–3874, https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz179.
- [46] K. Paeschke, J.A. Capra, V.A. Zakian, DNA replication through G-quadruplex motifs is promoted by the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Pif1 DNA helicase, Cell 145 (5) (May 2011) 678–691, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.04.015.
- [47] B.L. Zybailov, M.D. Sherpa, G.V. Glazko, K.D. Raney, V.I. Glazko, G4quadruplexes and genome instability, Mol. Biol. 47 (2) (Mar. 2013) 197–204, https://doi.org/10.1134/S0026893313020180.
- [48] J. Postberg, M. Tsytlonok, D. Sparvoli, D. Rhodes, H.J. Lipps, A telomeraseassociated RecQ protein-like helicase resolves telomeric G-quadruplex structures during replication, Gene 497 (2) (Apr. 2012) 147–154, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2012.01.068.
- [49] K. Paeschke, T. Simonsson, J. Postberg, D. Rhodes, H.J. Lipps, Telomere endbinding proteins control the formation of G-quadruplex DNA structures in vivo, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 12 (10) (Oct. 2005) 847–854, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nsmb982.
- [50] K.-L. Chan, P.S. North, I.D. Hickson, BLM is required for faithful chromosome segregation and its localization defines a class of ultrafine anaphase bridges, EMBO J. 26 (14) (Jul. 2007) 3397–3409, https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.emboj.7601777.
- [51] Y. Ke, et al., PICH and BLM limit histone association with anaphase centromeric DNA threads and promote their resolution, EMBO J. 30 (16) (Aug. 2011) 3309–3321, https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.226.
- [52] W.T.C. Lee, et al., Single-molecule imaging reveals replication fork coupled formation of G-quadruplex structures hinders local replication stress signaling, Nat. Commun. 12 (1) (May 2021) 2525, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-021-22830-9.
- [53] E. Kruisselbrink, V. Guryev, K. Brouwer, D.B. Pontier, E. Cuppen, M. Tijsterman, Mutagenic capacity of endogenous G4 DNA underlies genome instability in FANCJ-defective C. elegans, Curr. Biol. 18 (12) (Jun. 2008) 900–905, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.05.013.
- [54] K. Lowran, L. Campbell, P. Popp, C.G. Wu, Assembly of a G-quadruplex repair complex by the FANCJ DNA helicase and the REV1 polymerase, Genes (Basel) 11 (1) (Dec. 2019) 5, https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11010005.
- [55] M. Bienko, et al., Regulation of translesion synthesis DNA polymerase η by monoubiquitination, Mol. Cell 37 (3) (Feb. 2010) 396–407, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.12.039.
- [56] F. Tang, Y. Wang, Z. Gao, S. Guo, Y. Wang, Polymerase η recruits DHX9 helicase to promote replication across guanine quadruplex structures, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 144 (31) (Aug. 2022) 14016–14020, https://doi.org/10.1021/ jacs.2c05312.
- [57] K.L. Chan, T. Palmai-Pallag, S. Ying, I.D. Hickson, Replication stress induces sister-chromatid bridging at fragile site loci in mitosis, Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (6) (Jun. 2009) 753-760, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1882.
- [58] D. Schiavone, et al., PrimPol is required for replicative tolerance of G quadruplexes in vertebrate cells, Mol. Cell 61 (1) (Jan. 2016) 161–169, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.10.038.
- [59] S. Mourón, et al., Repriming of DNA synthesis at stalled replication forks by human PrimPol, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 20 (12) (Dec. 2013) 1383–1389, https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2719.
- [60] L.J. Bailey, J. Bianchi, A.J. Doherty, PrimPol is required for the maintenance of efficient nuclear and mitochondrial DNA replication in human cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 47 (8) (May 2019) 4026–4038, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkz056.
- [61] B. Lemmens, R. van Schendel, M. Tijsterman, Mutagenic consequences of a single G-quadruplex demonstrate mitotic inheritance of DNA replication fork barriers, Nat. Commun. 6 (1) (Nov. 2015) 8909, https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms9909.

- [62] S. Tirman, et al., Temporally distinct post-replicative repair mechanisms fill PRIMPOL-dependent ssDNA gaps in human cells, Mol. Cell 81 (19) (Oct. 2021) 4026–4040, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2021.09.013, e8.
- [63] A. Quinet, et al., Translesion synthesis mechanisms depend on the nature of DNA damage in UV-irradiated human cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 44 (12) (Jul. 2016) 5717–5731, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw280.
- [64] Z. Kang, et al., BRCA2 associates with MCM10 to suppress PRIMPOLmediated repriming and single-stranded gap formation after DNA damage, Nat. Commun. 12 (1) (Oct. 2021) 5966, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26227-6.
- [65] Y.W. Chan, S.C. West, A new class of ultrafine anaphase bridges generated by homologous recombination, Cell Cycle 17 (17) (Sep. 2018) 2101–2109, https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2018.1515555.
- [66] Y. Hashimoto, A. Ray Chaudhuri, M. Lopes, V. Costanzo, Rad51 protects nascent DNA from Mre11-dependent degradation and promotes continuous DNA synthesis, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 17 (11) (Nov. 2010) 1305–1311, https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1927.
- [67] K. Schlacher, N. Christ, N. Siaud, A. Egashira, H. Wu, M. Jasin, Double-strand break repair-independent role for BRCA2 in blocking stalled replication fork degradation by MRE11, Cell 145 (4) (May 2011) 529–542, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.041.
- [68] F.J. Groelly, et al., Anti-tumoural activity of the G-quadruplex ligand pyridostatin against BRCA1/2-deficient tumours, EMBO Mol. Med. 14 (3) (Mar. 2022), https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.202114501.
- [69] A. De Magis, et al., DNA damage and genome instability by G-quadruplex ligands are mediated by R loops in human cancer cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 116 (3) (Jan. 2019) 816–825, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1810409116.
- [70] M. Xing, et al., Replication stress induces ATR/CHK1-dependent nonrandom segregation of damaged chromosomes, Mol. Cell 78 (4) (May 2020) 714–724, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.04.005, e5.
- [71] T. García-Muse, A. Aguilera, R loops: from physiological to pathological roles, Cell 179 (3) (Oct. 2019) 604–618, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.055.
- [72] A. Aguilera, T. García-Muse, R loops: from transcription byproducts to threats to genome stability, Mol. Cell 46 (2) (2012) 115–124, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.04.009.
- [73] S. Saha, Y. Pommier, R-loops, type I topoisomerases and cancer, NAR Cancer 5 (1) (Jan. 2023), https://doi.org/10.1093/narcan/zcad013.
- [74] D. Castillo-Guzman, F. Chédin, Defining R-loop classes and their contributions to genome instability, DNA Repair (Amst) 106 (Oct. 2021), https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2021.103182.
- [75] L. Wahba, S.K. Gore, D. Koshland, The homologous recombination machinery modulates the formation of RNA-DNA hybrids and associated chromosome instability, Elife 2 (Jun. 2013), https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.00505, 2013.
- [76] K. Toriumi, T. Tsukahara, R. Hanai, R-loop formation in trans at an AGGAG repeat, J. Nucleic Acids (2013), https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/629218, 2013.
- [77] F. Ariel, et al., R-loop mediated trans action of the APOLO long noncoding RNA, Mol. Cell 77 (5) (Mar. 2020) 1055–1065, https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.MOLCEL.2019.12.015, e4.
- [78] M. Feretzaki, M. Pospisilova, R. Valador Fernandes, T. Lunardi, L. Krejci, J. Lingner, RAD51-dependent recruitment of TERRA lncRNA to telomeres through R-loops, Nature 587 (7833) (Oct. 2020) 303–308, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-020-2815-6, 2020 587:7833.
- [79] Y.A. Hegazy, C.M. Fernando, E.J. Tran, The balancing act of R-loop biology: the good, the bad, and the ugly, J. Biol. Chem. 295 (4) (2020) 905–913, https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV119.011353.
- [80] M.P. Crossley, M. Bocek, K.A. Cimprich, R-loops as cellular regulators and genomic threats, Mol. Cell 73 (3) (Feb. 2019) 398–411, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molcel.2019.01.024.
- [81] N. Elsakrmy, H. Cui, R-loops and R-loop-binding proteins in cancer progression and drug resistance, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 24 (8) (Apr. 2023) 7064, https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms24087064.
- [82] P. Huertas, A. Aguilera, Cotranscriptionally formed DNA:RNA hybrids mediate transcription elongation impairment and transcription-associated recombination, Mol. Cell 12 (3) (Sep. 2003) 711–721, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2003.08.010.
- [83] N. Sikdar, S. Banerjee, H. Zhang, S. Smith, K. Myung, Spt2p defines a new transcription-dependent gross chromosomal rearrangement pathway, PLoS Genet. 4 (12) (2008) 1000290, https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1000290.
- [84] P.C. Stirling, et al., R-loop-mediated genome instability in mRNA cleavage and polyadenylation mutants, Genes Dev. 26 (2) (Jan. 2012) 163–175, https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.179721.111.
- [85] L Costantino, D. Koshland, Genome-wide map of R-loop-induced damage reveals how a subset of R-loops contributes to genomic instability, Mol. Cell 71 (4) (Aug. 2018) 487–497, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.06.037, e3.
- [86] M. Groh, N. Gromak, Out of balance: R-loops in human disease, PLoS Genet. 10 (9) (Sep. 2014) e1004630, https://doi.org/10.1371/ JOURNAL.PGEN.1004630.
- [87] S. Rakshit, J.S. Sunny, M. George, L.E. Hanna, K. Sarkar, R-loop modulated epigenetic regulation in T helper cells mechanistically associates coronary artery disease and non-small cell lung cancer, Transl. Oncol. 14 (10) (Oct. 2021) 101189, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRANON.2021.101189.
- [88] J. Cuartas, L. Gangwani, R-Loop mediated DNA damage and impaired DNA repair in spinal muscular atrophy, Front. Cell. Neurosci. 16 (Jun. 2022) 305,

R.C. Duardo, F. Guerra, S. Pepe et al.

https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2022.826608/BIBTEX.

- [89] M.G.L. Perego, M. Taiana, N. Bresolin, G.P. Comi, S. Corti, R-loops in motor neuron diseases, Mol. Neurobiol. 56 (4) (Jul. 2018) 2579–2589, https:// doi.org/10.1007/S12035-018-1246-Y, 2018 56:4.
- [90] K. Sarkar, et al., R-loops cause genomic instability in T helper lymphocytes from patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 142 (1) (Jul. 2018) 219–234, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2017.11.023.
- [91] Z. Liu, et al., San1 deficiency leads to cardiomyopathy due to excessive Rloop-associated DNA damage and cardiomyocyte hypoplasia, Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA) - Mol. Basis Dis. 1867 (11) (Nov. 2021) 166237, https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.BBADIS.2021.166237.
- [92] J.P. Wells, J. White, P.C. Stirling, R loops and their composite cancer connections, Trends Cancer 5 (10) (Oct. 2019) 619-631, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.trecan.2019.08.006.
- [93] P. Richard, J.L. Manley, R loops and links to human disease, J. Mol. Biol. 429 (21) (Oct. 2017) 3168–3180, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016.08.031.
- [94] J.F. Ruiz, B. Gómez-González, A. Aguilera, AID induces double-strand breaks at immunoglobulin switch regions and c-MYC causing chromosomal translocations in yeast THO mutants, PLoS Genet. 7 (2) (Feb. 2011), https:// doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1002009.
- [95] B. Gómez-González, A. Aguilera, Activation-induced cytidine deaminase action is strongly stimulated by mutations of the THO complex, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104 (20) (May 2007) 8409–8414, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0702836104.
- [96] J.L. McCann, et al., R-loop homeostasis and cancer mutagenesis promoted by the DNA cytosine deaminase APOBEC3B, bioRxiv (Aug. 2021), https://doi.org/ 10.1101/2021.08.30.458235, 2021.08.30.458235.
- [97] A. Cristini, et al., Dual processing of R-loops and topoisomerase I induces transcription-dependent DNA double-strand breaks, Cell Rep. 28 (12) (2019) 3167–3181, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.08.041, e6.
- [98] J. Sollier, C.T. Stork, M.L. García-Rubio, R.D. Paulsen, A. Aguilera, K.A. Cimprich, Transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair factors promote R-loop-induced genome instability, Mol. Cell 56 (6) (Dec. 2014) 777–785, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.10.020.
- [99] J. Brustel, Z. Kozik, N. Gromak, V. Savic, S.M.M. Sweet, Large XPF-dependent deletions following misrepair of a DNA double strand break are prevented by the RNA:DNA helicase Senataxin, Sci. Rep. 8 (1) (2018) 1–12, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-018-21806-y.
- [100] V. Marabitti, et al., ATM pathway activation limits R-loop-associated genomic instability in Werner syndrome cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 47 (7) (Apr. 2019) 3485, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKZ025.
- [101] M.P. Crossley, et al., R-loop-derived cytoplasmic RNA–DNA hybrids activate an immune response, Nature 613 (7942) (Jan. 2023) 187–194, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05545-9.
- [102] N. Maizels, L.T. Gray, The G4 genome, PLoS Genet. 9 (4) (Apr. 2013) e1003468, https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1003468.
 [103] Q. Qiao, L. Wang, F.L. Meng, J.K. Hwang, F.W. Alt, H. Wu, AID recognizes
- [103] Q. Qiao, L. Wang, F.L. Meng, J.K. Hwang, F.W. Alt, H. Wu, AID recognizes structured DNA for class switch recombination, Mol. Cell 67 (3) (Aug. 2017) 361–373, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2017.06.034, e4.
- [104] C. Kumar, S. Batra, J.D. Griffith, D. Remus, The interplay of rna:Dna hybrid structure and g-quadruplexes determines the outcome of r-loop-replisome collisions, Elife 10 (Sep. 2021), https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.72286.
- [105] P. Yadav, N. Owiti, N. Kim, The role of topoisomerase I in suppressing genome instability associated with a highly transcribed guanine-rich sequence is not restricted to preventing RNA:DNA hybrid accumulation, Nucleic Acids Res. 44 (2) (Jan. 2016) 718, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/ GKV1152.
- [106] E. Hatchi, et al., BRCA1 recruitment to transcriptional pause sites is required for R-loop-driven DNA damage repair, Mol. Cell 57 (4) (Feb. 2015) 636–647, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.01.011.
- [107] M.K.K. Shivji, X. Renaudin, Ç.H. Williams, A.R. Venkitaraman, BRCA2 regulates transcription elongation by RNA polymerase II to prevent R-loop accumulation, Cell Rep. 22 (4) (Jan. 2018) 1031–1039, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.12.086.
- [108] X. Zhang, et al., Attenuation of RNA polymerase II pausing mitigates BRCA1associated R-loop accumulation and tumorigenesis, Nat. Commun. 8 (1) (Jun. 2017) 15908, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15908.
- [109] A. Gorthi, et al., EWS-FLI1 increases transcription to cause R-loops and block BRCA1 repair in Ewing sarcoma, Nature 555 (7696) (Mar. 2018) 387–391, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25748.
- [110] E.W. Loomis, L.A. Sanz, F. Chédin, P.J. Hagerman, Transcription-associated Rloop formation across the human FMR1 CGG-repeat region, PLoS Genet. 10 (4) (2014) e1004294, https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNALPGEN.1004294.
- [111] M. Groh, M.M.P. Lufino, R. Wade-Martins, N. Gromak, R-Loops associated with triplet repeat expansions promote gene silencing in Friedreich ataxia and fragile X syndrome, PLoS Genet. 10 (5) (May 2014) e1004318, https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004318.
- [112] R.E. Brown, et al., The RNA export and RNA decay complexes THO and TRAMP prevent transcription-replication conflicts, DNA breaks, and CAG repeat contractions, PLoS Biol. 20 (12) (Dec. 2022) e3001940, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/JOURNALPBIO.3001940.
- [113] A. Helmrich, M. Ballarino, L. Tora, Collisions between replication and transcription complexes cause common fragile site instability at the longest human genes, Mol. Cell 44 (6) (Dec. 2011) 966–977, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.molcel.2011.10.013.

- [114] S. Tuduri, et al., Topoisomerase I suppresses genomic instability by preventing interference between replication and transcription, Nat. Cell Biol. 11 (11) (Nov. 2009) 1315–1324, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1984.
- [115] S. Hamperl, M.J. Bocek, J.C. Saldivar, T. Swigut, K.A. Cimprich, Transcriptionreplication conflict orientation modulates R-loop levels and activates distinct DNA damage responses, Cell 170 (4) (Aug. 2017) 774–786, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CELL.2017.07.043, e19.
- [116] K.S. Lang, et al., Replication-transcription conflicts generate R-loops that orchestrate bacterial stress survival and pathogenesis, Cell 170 (4) (2017) 787–799, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.044, e18.
- [117] M. García-Rubio, et al., Yra1-bound RNA–DNA hybrids cause orientationindependent transcription-replication collisions and telomere instability, Genes Dev. 32 (13–14) (Jul. 2018) 965–977, https://doi.org/10.1101/ GAD.311274.117.
- [118] F. Prado, A. Aguilera, Impairment of replication fork progression mediates RNA pollI transcription-associated recombination, EMBO J. 24 (6) (Mar. 2005) 1267–1276, https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMBOJ.7600602.
 [119] A. Srivatsan, A. Tehranchi, D.M. MacAlpine, J.D. Wang, Co-orientation of
- [119] A. Srivatsan, A. Tehranchi, D.M. MacAlpine, J.D. Wang, Co-orientation of replication and transcription preserves genome integrity, PLoS Genet. 6 (1) (Jan. 2010), https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1000810.
- [120] S. Hamperl, K.A. Cimprich, Conflict resolution in the genome: how transcription and replication make it work, Cell 167 (6) (Dec. 2016) 1455–1467, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2016.09.053.
- [121] A. Promonet, et al., Topoisomerase 1 prevents replication stress at R-loopenriched transcription termination sites, Nat. Commun. 11 (1) (Aug. 2020) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17858-2, 2020 11:1.
- [122] G. D'Alessandro, et al., BRCA2 controls DNA:RNA hybrid level at DSBs by mediating RNase H2 recruitment, Nat. Commun. 9 (1) (Dec. 2018) 5376, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07799-2.
- [123] Y.J. Crow, J. Rehwinkel, Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and related phenotypes: linking nucleic acid metabolism with autoimmunity, Hum. Mol. Genet. 18 (R2) (Oct. 2009), https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp293. R130–R136.
 [124] A.K. Mankan, et al., Cytosolic RNA:DNA hybrids activate the <scp>cGAS
- [124] A.K. Mankan, et al., Cytosolic RNA:DNA hybrids activate the <scp>cGAS</ scp> -STING axis, EMBO J. 33 (24) (Dec. 2014) 2937–2946, https://doi.org/ 10.15252/embj.201488726.
- [125] D. García-Pichardo, J.C. Cañas, M.L. García-Rubio, B. Gómez-González, A.G. Rondón, A. Aguilera, Histone mutants separate R loop formation from genome instability induction, Mol. Cell 66 (5) (2017) 597–609, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.05.014, e5.
- [126] M. Castellano-Pozo, et al., R loops are linked to histone H3 S10 phosphorylation and chromatin condensation, Mol. Cell 52 (4) (Nov. 2013) 583–590, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2013.10.006.
- [127] E. El Achkar, M. Gerbault-Seureau, M. Muleris, B. Dutrillaux, M. Debatisse, Premature condensation induces breaks at the interface of early and late replicating chromosome bands bearing common fragile sites, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (50) (Dec. 2005) 18069–18074, https://doi.org/ 10.1073/PNAS.0506497102.
- [128] R. Stuckey, N. García-Rodríguez, A. Aguilera, R.E. Wellinger, Role for RNA: DNA hybrids in origin-independent replication priming in a eukaryotic system, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112 (18) (2015) 5779–5784, https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1501769112.
- [129] H. Wimberly, C. Shee, P.C. Thornton, P. Sivaramakrishnan, S.M. Rosenberg, P.J. Hastings, R-loops and nicks initiate DNA breakage and genome instability in non-growing Escherichia coli, Nat. Commun. 4 (1) (Jul. 2013) 2115, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3115.
- [130] M. Wood, et al., TDP-43 dysfunction results in R-loop accumulation and DNA replication defects, J. Cell Sci. 133 (20) (Oct. 2020), https://doi.org/10.1242/ JCS.244129.
- [131] T. Zhang, M. Wallis, V. Petrovic, J. Challis, P. Kalitsis, D.F. Hudson, Loss of TOP3B leads to increased R-loop formation and genome instability, Open Biol. 9 (12) (Dec. 2019), https://doi.org/10.1098/RSOB.190222.
- [132] W.L. Lin, et al., DDX18 prevents R-loop-induced DNA damage and genome instability via PARP-1, Cell Rep. 40 (3) (Jul. 2022) 111089, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CELREP.2022.111089.
- [133] B. Boleslavska, et al., DDX17 helicase promotes resolution of R-loop-mediated transcription-replication conflicts in human cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 50 (21) (Nov. 2022) 12274–12290, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKAC1116.
- [134] M. Zeraati, et al., I-motif DNA structures are formed in the nuclei of human cells, Nat. Chem. 10 (6) (Jun. 2018) 631–637, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41557-018-0046-3.
- [135] G. Bain, E2A proteins are required for proper B cell development and initiation of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements, Cell 79 (5) (Dec. 1994) 885–892, https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90077-9.
- [136] S. Kendrick, et al., The dynamic character of the BCL2 promoter i-motif provides a mechanism for modulation of gene expression by compounds that bind selectively to the alternative DNA hairpin structure, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136 (11) (Mar. 2014) 4161–4171, https://doi.org/10.1021/ja410934b.
- [137] A. Kumari, W. Folk, D. Sakamuro, The dual roles of MYC in genomic instability and cancer chemoresistance, Genes (Basel) 8 (6) (Jun. 2017) 158, https://doi.org/10.3390/genes8060158.
- [138] Q. Wang, F. Gao, W.S. May, Y. Zhang, T. Flagg, X. Deng, Bcl2 negatively regulates DNA double-strand-break repair through a nonhomologous endjoining pathway, Mol. Cell 29 (4) (Feb. 2008) 488–498, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molcel.2007.12.029.
- [139] S. Dhakal, J.L. Lafontaine, Z. Yu, D. Koirala, H. Mao, Intramolecular folding in

human ILPR fragment with three C-rich repeats, PLoS One 7 (6) (Jun. 2012) e39271, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039271.

- [140] P. Catasti, X. Chen, R.K. Moyzis, E.M. Bradbury, G. Gupta, Structure–function correlations of the insulin-linked polymorphic region, J. Mol. Biol. 264 (3) (Dec. 1996) 534–545, https://doi.org/10.1006/imbi.1996.0659.
- [141] M. Martella, F. Pichiorri, R. v Chikhale, M.A.S. Abdelhamid, Z.A.E. Waller, S.S. Smith, i-Motif formation and spontaneous deletions in human cells, Nucleic Acids Res. 50 (6) (Apr. 2022) 3445–3455, https://doi.org/10.1093/ nar/gkac158.
- [142] S.L. Williams, et al., Replication-induced DNA secondary structures drive fork uncoupling and breakage, bioRxiv. Preprint (Mar. (2023). https://doi.org/10. 1101/2022.11.18.517070.
- [143] L. Toledo, K.J. Neelsen, J. Lukas, Replication catastrophe: when a checkpoint fails because of exhaustion, Mol. Cell 66 (6) (Jun. 2017) 735–749, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.05.001.
- [144] Y. Chen, et al., Insights into the biomedical effects of carboxylated single-wall carbon nanotubes on telomerase and telomeres, Nat. Commun. 3 (1) (Sep. 2012) 1074, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2091.
- [145] X. Li, Y. Peng, J. Ren, X. Qu, Carboxyl-modified single-walled carbon nanotubes selectively induce human telomeric i-motif formation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (52) (Dec. 2006) 19658–19663, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0607245103.
- [146] S. Balasubramanian, S. Neidle, G-quadruplex nucleic acids as therapeutic targets, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 13 (3) (Jun. 2009) 345–353, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.04.637.
- [147] M. Miklenić, I.K. Svetec, Palindromes in DNA-A risk for genome stability and implications in cancer, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (2021) 2840, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms22062840.
- [148] G.R. Smith, Meeting DNA palindromes head-to-head, 206, 2008, pp. 2612–2620, https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1724708.2612.
- [149] J.J. Bissler, DNA inverted repeats and human disease, Front. Biosci. 3 (1998), https://doi.org/10.2741/A284.
- [150] Y. Du, X. Zhou, Targeting non-B-form DNA in living cells, Chem. Rec. 13 (4) (Aug. 2013) 371–384, https://doi.org/10.1002/tcr.201300005.
- [151] P. Švoboda, A. Di Cara, Hairpin RNA: a secondary structure of primary importance, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 63 (7–8) (Apr. 2006) 901–918, https:// doi.org/10.1007/S00018-005-5558-5.
- [152] I. Voineagu, C.H. Freudenreich, S.M. Mirkin, Checkpoint responses to unusual structures formed by DNA repeats, Mol. Carcinog. 48 (4) (2009) 309–318, https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20512.
- [153] V.I. Lyamichev, I.G. Panyutin, M.D. Frank-Kamenetskii, Evidence of cruciform structures in superhelical DNA provided by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, FEBS Lett. 153 (2) (Mar. 1983) 298–302, https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0014-5793(83)80628-0.
- [154] N. Panayotatos, R.D. Wells, Cruciform structures in supercoiled DNA, Nature 289 (5797) (Feb. 1981) 466–470, https://doi.org/10.1038/289466a0.
- [155] A.S. Krasilnikov, A. Podtelezhnikov, A. Vologodskii, S.M. Mirkin, Large-scale effects of transcriptional DNA supercoiling in Vivo, J. Mol. Biol. 292 (5) (Oct. 1999) 1149–1160, https://doi.org/10.1006/JMBI.1999.3117.
- [156] H. Tateishi-Karimata, N. Sugimoto, Chemical biology of non-canonical structures of nucleic acids for therapeutic applications, Chem. Commun. 56 (16) (2020) 2379–2390, https://doi.org/10.1039/c9cc09771f.
- [157] V. Brázda, R.C. Laister, E.B. Jagelská, C. Arrowsmith, Cruciform structures are a common DNA feature important for regulating biological processes, BMC Mol. Biol. 12 (1) (2011) 33, https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2199-12-33.
- [158] N. Pandya, S.R. Bhagwat, A. Kumar, Regulatory role of Non-canonical DNA Polymorphisms in human genome and their relevance in Cancer, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Rev. Canc 1876 (2) (Dec. 2021) 188594, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188594.
- [159] Y. Ma, U. Pannicke, K. Schwarz, M.R. Lieber, Hairpin opening and overhang processing by an artemis/DNA-dependent protein kinase complex in nonhomologous end joining and V(D)J recombination, Cell 108 (6) (Mar. 2002) 781–794, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00671-2.
- [160] H. Lu, K. Schwarz, M.R. Lieber, Extent to which hairpin opening by the Artemis:DNA-PKcs complex can contribute to junctional diversity in V(D)J recombination, Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (20) (Nov. 2007) 6917–6923, https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm823.
- [161] M. Mitas, Trinucleotide repeats associated with human disease, Nucleic Acids Res. 25 (12) (1997) 2245–2253, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/25.12.2245.
- [162] A. Bacolla, J.A. Tainer, K.M. Vasquez, D.N. Cooper, Translocation and deletion breakpoints in cancer genomes are associated with potential non-B DNAforming sequences, Nucleic Acids Res. 44 (12) (Jul. 2016) 5673–5688, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKW261.
- [163] D. Mishra, et al., Breakpoint analysis of the recurrent constitutional t(8;22)(q24.13;q11.21) translocation, Mol. Cytogenet. 7 (1) (Dec. 2014) 55, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13039-014-0055-x.
- [164] B.L. Heidenfelder, A.M. Makhov, M.D. Topal, Hairpin Formation in Friedreich's ataxia triplet repeat expansion, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (4) (Jan. 2003) 2425–2431, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M210643200.
- [165] M.D. Challberg, P.T. Englund, The effect of template secondary structure on vaccinia DNA polymerase, J. Biol. Chem. 254 (16) (Aug. 1979) 7820–7826, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)36020-4.
- [166] A.S. Kamath-Loeb, L.A. Loeb, E. Johansson, P.M.J. Burgers, M. Fry, Interactions between the werner syndrome helicase and DNA polymerase δ specifically facilitate copying of tetraplex and hairpin structures of the d(CGG)n

trinucleotide repeat sequence, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (19) (2001) 16439–16446, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M100253200.

- [167] I. Voineagu, V. Narayanan, K.S. Lobachev, S.M. Mirkin, Replication stalling at unstable inverted repeats: interplay between DNA hairpins and fork stabilizing proteins, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105 (29) (Jul. 2008) 9936–9941, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0804510105.
- [168] E. Viguera, D. Canceill, S.D. Ehrlich, Replication slippage involves DNA polymerase pausing and dissociation, EMBO J. 20 (10) (May 2001) 2587–2595, https://doi.org/10.1093/EMBOJ/20.10.2587.
- [169] R.D. Wells, R. Dere, M.L. Hebert, M. Napierala, L.S. Son, Advances in mechanisms of genetic instability related to hereditary neurological diseases, Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (12) (2005) 3785–3798, https://doi.org/10.1093/nat/ gki697.
- [170] R.P. Bowater, R.D. Wells, The intrinsically unstable life of DNA triplet repeats associated with human hereditary disorders, Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 66 (2000) 159–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6603(00)66029-4.
- [171] D.R.F. Leach, Long DNA palindromes, cruciform structures, genetic instability and secondary structure repair, Bioessays 16 (12) (Dec. 1994) 893–900, https://doi.org/10.1002/BIES.950161207.
- [172] M. Castillo-Lizardo, G. Henneke, E. Viguera, Replication slippage of the thermophilic DNA polymerases B and D from the Euryarchaeota Pyrococcus abyssi, Front. Microbiol. 5 (AUG) (Aug. 2014) 403, https://doi.org/10.3389/ FMICB.2014.00403/ABSTRACT.
- [173] J. Zhao, A. Bacolla, G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, Non-B DNA structure-induced genetic instability and evolution, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 67 (1) (Jan. 2010) 43–62, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-0131-2.
- [174] C.E. Pearson, R.R. Sinden, Alternative structures in duplex DNA formed within the trinucleotide repeats of the myotonic dystrophy and fragile X loci, Biochemistry 35 (15) (1996) 5041–5053, https://doi.org/10.1021/BI9601013.
- [175] R.R. Sinden, M.J. Pytlos-Sinden, V.N. Potaman, Slipped strand DNA structures, Front. Biosci. 12 (13) (Sep. 2007) 4788–4799, https://doi.org/10.2741/2427.
- [176] C.E. Pearson, et al., Slipped-strand DNAs formed by long (CAG) (CTG) repeats: slipped-out repeats and slip-out junctions, Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (20) (Oct. 2002) 4534, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKF572.
- [177] C.E. Pearson, A. Ewel, S. Acharya, R.A. Fishel, R.R. Sinden, Human MSH2 binds to trinucleotide repeat DNA structures associated with neurodegenerative diseases, Hum. Mol. Genet. 6 (7) (Jul. 1997) 1117–1123, https://doi.org/ 10.1093/HMG/6.7.1117.
- [178] K. Manley, T.L. Shirley, L. Flaherty, A. Messer, Msh2 deficiency prevents in vivo somatic instability of the CAG repeat in Huntington disease transgenic mice, Nat. Genet. 23 (4) (Dec. 1999) 471–473, https://doi.org/10.1038/ 70598.
- [179] V.C. Wheeler, L.A. Lebel, V. Vrbanac, A. Teed, H.T. te Riele, M.E. MacDonald, Mismatch repair gene Msh2 modifies the timing of early disease in HdhQ111 striatum, Hum. Mol. Genet. 12 (3) (Feb. 2003) 273–281, https://doi.org/ 10.1093/HMG/DDG056.
- [180] J.K. Eykelenboom, J.K. Blackwood, E. Okely, D.R.F. Leach, SbcCD causes a double-strand break at a DNA palindrome in the Escherichia coli chromosome, Mol. Cell 29 (5) (Mar. 2008) 644–651, https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.MOLCEL.2007.12.020.
- [181] B. Azeroglu, F. Lincker, M.A. White, D. Jain, D.R.F. Leach, A perfect palindrome in the Escherichia coli chromosome forms DNA hairpins on both leadingand lagging-strands, Nucleic Acids Res. 42 (21) (Dec. 2014) 13206–13213, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKU1136.
- [182] S. Lu, G. Wang, A. Bacolla, J. Zhao, S. Spitser, K.M. Vasquez, Short inverted repeats are hotspots for genetic instability: relevance to cancer genomes, Cell Rep. 10 (10) (Mar. 2015) 1674–1680, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.celrep.2015.02.039.
- [183] K.M. Trujillo, P. Sung, DNA structure-specific nuclease activities in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae rad50-mre11 complex, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (38) (Sep. 2001) 35458–35464, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M105482200.
- [184] T.T. Paull, M. Gellert, Nbs1 potentiates ATP-driven DNA unwinding and endonuclease cleavage by the Mre11/Rad50 complex, Genes Dev. 13 (10) (1999) 1276–1288, https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.13.10.1276.
- [185] J.A. Farah, G. Cromie, W.W. Steiner, G.R. Smith, A novel recombination pathway initiated by the Mre11/Rad50/Nbs1 complex eliminates palindromes during meiosis in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, Genetics 169 (3) (Mar. 2005) 1261, https://doi.org/10.1534/GENETICS.104.037515.
- [186] Y. Zhang, N. Saini, Z. Sheng, K.S. Lobachev, Genome-wide screen reveals replication pathway for quasi-palindrome fragility dependent on homologous recombination, PLoS Genet. 9 (12) (2013) e1003979, https://doi.org/ 10.1371/JOURNALPGEN.1003979.
- [187] H. Inagaki, et al., ARTICLE Two sequential cleavage reactions on cruciform DNA structures cause palindrome-mediated chromosomal translocations, Nat. Commun. (2013), https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2595.
- [188] F. Toulmé, C. Mosrin-Huaman, I. Artsimovitch, A.R. Rahmouni, Transcriptional pausing in Vivo: a nascent RNA hairpin restricts lateral movements of RNA polymerase in both forward and reverse directions, J. Mol. Biol. 351 (1) (Aug. 2005) 39–51, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JMB.2005.05.052.
- [189] H. Tateishi-Karimata, N. Isono, N. Sugimoto, New insights into transcription fidelity: thermal stability of non-canonical structures in template DNA regulates transcriptional arrest, pause, and slippage, PLoS One 9 (3) (Mar. 2014) e90580, https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0090580.
- [190] I. Toulokhonov, I. Artsimovitch, R. Landick, Allosteric control of RNA polymerase by a site that contacts nascent RNA hairpins, Science 292 (5517)

(1979) 730-733, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1057738. Apr. 2001.

- [191] C. Bao, S. Loerch, C. Ling, A.A. Korostelev, N. Grigorieff, D.N. Ermolenko, mRNA stem-loops can pause the ribosome by hindering A-site tRNA binding, Elife 9 (May 2020) 1–67, https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.55799.
- [192] S. Yan, J. Der Wen, C. Bustamante, I. Tinoco, Ribosome excursions during mRNA translocation mediate broad branching of frameshift pathways, Cell 160 (5) (Feb. 2015) 870–881, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2015.02.003.
- [193] M.K. Doma, R. Parker, Endonucleolytic Cleavage of Eukaryotic mRNAs with Stalls in Translation Elongation, 2006, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04530.
- [194] M. Marotta, et al., Palindromic amplification of the ERBB2 oncogene in primary HER2-positive breast tumors, Sci. Rep. 7 (1) (Feb. 2017) 41921, https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep41921.
- [195] M.S. Miklenić, I.K. Svetec, Palindromes in DNA—a risk for genome stability and implications in cancer, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (6) (Mar. 2021) 1–19, https:// doi.org/10.3390/IJMS22062840.
- [196] K.S. Lobachev, D.A. Gordenin, M.A. Resnick, The Mre11 complex is required for repair of hairpin-capped double-strand breaks and prevention of chromosome rearrangements, Cell 108 (2) (Jan. 2002) 183–193, https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00614-1.
- [197] H. Kurahashi, et al., Cruciform DNA structure underlies the etiology for palindrome-mediated human chromosomal translocations, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (34) (Aug. 2004) 35377–35383, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M400354200.
- [198] K.S. Lobachev, A. Rattray, V. Narayanan, Hairpin- and cruciform-mediated chromosome breakage: causes and consequences in eukaryotic cells, Front. Biosci. 12 (11) (May 2007) 4208–4220, https://doi.org/10.2741/2381.
- [199] H. Kurahashi, H. Inagaki, T. Ohye, H. Kogo, T. Kato, B.S. Emanuel, Palindromemediated chromosomal translocations in humans, DNA Repair (Amst) 5 (9–10) (Sep. 2006) 1136–1145, https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.dnarep.2006.05.035.
- [200] J.A. Brown, C.A. Jessica Brown, Unraveling the structure and biological functions of RNA triple helices, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 11 (6) (Nov. 2020) e1598, https://doi.org/10.1002/WRNA.1598.
- [201] X. Shi, H. Teng, Z. Sun, An updated overview of experimental and computational approaches to identify non-canonical DNA/RNA structures with emphasis on G-quadruplexes and R-loops, Briefings Bioinf. 23 (October) (2022) 1–20, https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbac441.
- [202] S.M. Mirkin, V.I. Lyamichev, K.N. Drushlyak, V.N. Dobrynin, S.A. Filippov, M.D. Frank-Kamenetskii, DNA H form requires a homopurine-homopyrimidine mirror repeat, Nature 330 (6147) (1987) 495-497, https://doi.org/10.1038/330495a0, 1987 330:6147.
- [203] A. Dayn, G.M. Samadashwily, S.M. Mirkin, Intramolecular DNA triplexes: unusual sequence requirements and influence on DNA polymerization, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 89 (23) (1992) 11406–11410, https://doi.org/10.1073/ PNAS.89.23.11406.
- [204] J. Klysik, An intramolecular triplex structure from non-mirror repeated sequence containing both Py:Pu·Py and Pu:Pu·Py triads, J. Mol. Biol. 245 (5) (1995) 499–507, https://doi.org/10.1006/JMBI.1994.0041.
- [205] B.P. Belotserkovskii, A.G. Veselkov, S.A. Filippov, V.N. Dobrynin, S.M. Mirkin, M.D. Frank-Kamenetskii, Formation of intramolecular triplex in homopurine-homopyrimidine mirror repeats with point substitutions, Nucleic Acids Res. 18 (22) (Nov. 1990) 6621, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/ 18.22.6621.
- [206] R.F. Macaya, D.E. Gilbert, S. Malek, J.S. Sinsheimer, J. Feigon, Structure and stability of X-G-C mismatches in the third strand of intramolecular triplexes, Science 254 (5029) (1979) 270–274, https://doi.org/10.1126/SCI-ENCE.1925581. Oct. 1991.
- [207] N. Sakamoto, et al., Sticky DNA: self-association properties of long GAA·TTC repeats in R·R·Y triplex structures from Friedreich's ataxia, Mol. Cell 3 (4) (Apr. 1999) 465–475, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80474-8.
- [208] A.A. Vetcher, M. Napierala, R.R. Iyer, P.D. Chastain, J.D. Griffith, R.D. Wells, Sticky DNA, a long GAA GAA TTC triplex that is formed intramolecularly, in the sequence of intron 1 of the frataxin gene, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (42) (Oct. 2002) 39217–39227, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M205209200.
- [209] G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, Naturally occurring H-DNA-forming sequences are mutagenic in mammalian cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101 (37) (Sep. 2004) 13448–13453, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405116101.
- [210] M.M. Krasilnikova, S.M. Mirkin, Replication stalling at Friedreich's ataxia (GAA)n repeats in vivo, Mol. Cell Biol. 24 (6) (Mar. 2004) 2286, https:// doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.6.2286-2295.2004.
- [211] G. Liu, S. Myers, X. Chen, J.J. Bissler, R.R. Sinden, M. Leffak, Replication fork stalling and checkpoint activation by a PKD1 locus mirror repeat polypurinepolypyrimidine (Pu-Py) tract, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (40) (Sep. 2012) 33412–33423, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M112.402503.
- [212] R.T. Blaszak, V. Potaman, R.R. Sinden, J.J. Bissler, DNA structural transitions within the PKD1 gene, Nucleic Acids Res. 27 (13) (Jul. 1999) 2610–2617, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/27.13.2610.
- [213] W.J. Tiner, V.N. Potaman, R.R. Sinden, Y.L. Lyubchenko, The structure of intramolecular triplex DNA: atomic force microscopy study, J. Mol. Biol. 314 (3) (Nov. 2001) 353–357, https://doi.org/10.1006/JMBI.2001.5174.
- [214] H.P. Patel, L. Lu, R.T. Blaszak, J.J. Bissler, PKD1 intron 21: triplex DNA formation and effect on replication, Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (4) (2004) 1460–1468, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh312.
- [215] A. Bacolla, et al., Breakpoints of gross deletions coincide with non-B DNA conformations, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101 (39) (Sep. 2004) 14162–14167, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405974101.

- [216] A.M. Gacy, et al., GAA instability in Friedreich's Ataxia shares a common, DNA-directed and intraallelic mechanism with other trinucleotide diseases, Mol. Cell 1 (4) (Mar. 1998) 583–593, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80058-1.
- [217] V. Campuzano, et al., Friedreich's ataxia: autosomal recessive disease caused by an intronic GAA triplet repeat expansion, Science 271 (5254) (Mar. 1996) 1423–1427, https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.271.5254.1423.
- [218] P.I. Patel, G. Isaya, Friedreich ataxia: from GAA triplet-repeat expansion to frataxin deficiency, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 69 (1) (2001) 15, https://doi.org/ 10.1086/321283.
- [219] R.D. Wells, DNA triplexes and Friedreich ataxia, Faseb. J. 22 (6) (2008) 1625–1634, https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-097857.
- [220] K. Ohshima, L. Montermini, R.D. Wells, M. Pandolfo, Inhibitory effects of expanded GAA.TTC triplet repeats from intron I of the Friedreich ataxia gene on transcription and replication in vivo, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (23) (Jun. 1998) 14588–14595, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.273.23.14588.
- [221] N. Sakamoto, K. Ohshima, L. Montermini, M. Pandolfo, R.D. Wells, Sticky DNA, a self-associated complex formed at long GAA TTC repeats in intron 1 of the frataxin gene, inhibits transcription, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (29) (Jul. 2001) 27171–27177, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M101879200.
- [222] S. Pandey, et al., Transcription blockage by stable H-DNA analogs in vitro, Nucleic Acids Res. 43 (14) (2015) 6994–7004, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkv622.
- [223] E. Grabczyk, M.C. Fishman, A long purine-pyrimidine homopolymer acts as a transcriptional diode, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (4) (1995) 1791–1797, https:// doi.org/10.1074/JBC.270.4.1791.
- [224] B.P. Belotserkovskii, E. De Silva, S. Tornaletti, G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, P.C. Hanawalt, A triplex-forming sequence from the human c-MYC promoter interferes with DNA transcription, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (44) (Nov. 2007) 32433–32441, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M704618200.
- [225] A.B. Firulli, D.C. Maibenco, A.J. Kinniburgh, Triplex forming ability of a c-myc promoter element predicts promoter strength, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 310 (1) (1994) 236–242, https://doi.org/10.1006/ABBI.1994.1162.
- [226] V.N. Potaman, D.W. Ussery, R.R. Sinden, Formation of a combined H-DNA/ Open TATA box structure in the promoter sequence of the human Na,K-ATPase α2 gene, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (23) (Jun. 1996) 13441–13447, https:// doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.23.13441.
- [227] A. Bogdanov, F. Moiseenko, M. Dubina, Abnormal expression of ATP1A1 and ATP1A2 in breast cancer, F1000Res 6 (2017), https://doi.org/10.12688/ F1000RESEARCH.10481.1.
- [228] A. Bacolla, A. Jaworski, T.D. Connors, R.D. Wells, Pkd1 unusual DNA conformations are recognized by nucleotide excision repair, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (21) (Jan. 2001) 18597–18604, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M100845200.
- [229] J.Y. Chin, P.M. Glazer, Repair of DNA lesions associated with triplex-forming oligonucleotides, Mol. Carcinog. 48 (4) (Apr. 2009) 389–399, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/MC.20501.
- [230] A. Jain, G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, DNA triple helices: biological consequences and therapeutic potential, Biochimie 90 (8) (Aug. 01, 2008) 1117–1130, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2008.02.011. Elsevier.
- [231] J. Zhao, et al., Distinct mechanisms of nuclease-directed DNA-structureinduced genetic instability in cancer genomes, Cell Rep. 22 (5) (Jan. 2018) 1200–1210, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELREP.2018.01.014.
- [232] A. Bacolla, et al., Long homopurine•homopyrimidine sequences are characteristic of genes expressed in brain and the pseudoautosomal region, Nucleic Acids Res. 34 (9) (May 2006) 2663–2675, https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/ GKL354.
- [233] T. Umek, et al., Oligonucleotide binding to non-B-DNA in MYC, Molecules 24 (5) (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES24051000.
- [234] S.C. Raghavan, et al., Evidence for a triplex DNA conformation at the bcl-2 major breakpoint region of the t(14;18) translocation, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (24) (Jun. 2005) 22749–22760, https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M502952200.
- [235] S.C. Raghavan, P.C. Swanson, X. Wu, C.L. Hsieh, M.R. Lieber, A non-B-DNA structure at the Bcl-2 major breakpoint region is cleaved by the RAG complex, Nature 428 (6978) (2004) 88–93, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02355.
- [236] A. Bacolla, G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, New perspectives on DNA and RNA triplexes as effectors of biological activity, PLoS Genet. 11 (12) (2015), https:// doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1005696.
- [237] J.E. Wilusz, C.K. JnBaptiste, L.Y. Lu, C.D. Kuhn, L. Joshua-Tor, P.A. Sharp, A triple helix stabilizes the 3' ends of long noncoding RNAs that lack poly(A) tails, Genes Dev. 26 (21) (2012) 2392–2407, https://doi.org/10.1101/ gad.204438.112.
- [238] R.M. Mitton-Fry, S.J. DeGregorio, J. Wang, T.A. Steitz, J.A. Steitz, Poly(A) tail recognition by a viral RNA element through assembly of a triple helix, Science 330 (6008) (1979) 1244–1247, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1195858. Nov. 2010.
- [239] J.A. Brown, M.L. Valenstein, T.A. Yario, K.T. Tycowski, J.A. Steitz, Formation of triple-helical structures by the 3'-end sequences of MALAT1 and MENβ noncoding RNAs, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109 (47) (Nov. 2012) 19202–19207, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217338109.
- [240] K.M. Schmitz, C. Mayer, A. Postepska, I. Grummt, Interaction of noncoding RNA with the rDNA promoter mediates recruitment of DNMT3b and silencing of rRNA genes, Genes Dev. 24 (20) (Oct. 2010) 2264–2269, https:// doi.org/10.1101/GAD.590910.
- [241] J.D. Toscano-Garibay, G. Aquino-Jarquin, Transcriptional regulation mechanism mediated by miRNA–DNA•DNA triplex structure stabilized by

Argonaute, Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA) Gene Regul. Mech. 1839 (11) (Nov. 2014) 1079–1083, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBAGRM.2014.07.016.

- [242] M. Kanak, et al., Triplex-forming MicroRNAs form stable complexes with HIV-1 provirus and inhibit its replication, Appl. Immunohistochem. Mol. Morphol. AIMM 18 (6) (Dec. 2010) 532–545, https://doi.org/10.1097/ PAI.0B013E3181E1EF6A.
- [243] C. Li, et al., Triplex-forming oligonucleotides as an anti-gene technique for cancer therapy, Front. Pharmacol. 13 (Dec. 2022), https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2022.1007723.
- [244] A.H.-J. Wang, et al., Molecular structure of a left-handed double helical DNA fragment at atomic resolution, Nature 282 (5740) (Dec. 1979) 680–686, https://doi.org/10.1038/282680a0.
- [245] Y. Mitsui, et al., Physical and enzymatic studies on poly d(I–C).Poly d(I–C), an unusual double-helical DNA, Nature 228 (5277) (Dec. 1970) 1166–1169, https://doi.org/10.1038/2281166a0.
- [246] G.P. Schroth, P.J. Chou, P.S. Ho, Mapping Z-DNA in the human genome. Computer-aided mapping reveals a nonrandom distribution of potential Z-DNA-forming sequences in human genes, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (17) (Jun. 1992) 11846–11855, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)49776-7.
- [247] G. Wang, Z-DNA, an active element in the genome, Front. Biosci. 12 (8–12) (2007) 4424, https://doi.org/10.2741/2399.
- [248] R. Liu, H. Liu, X. Chen, M. Kirby, P.O. Brown, K. Zhao, Regulation of CSF1 promoter by the SWI/SNF-like BAF complex, Cell 106 (3) (Aug. 2001) 309–318, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00446-9.
- [249] H. Liu, N. Mulholland, H. Fu, K. Zhao, Cooperative activity of BRG1 and Z-DNA formation in chromatin remodeling, Mol. Cell Biol. 26 (7) (Apr. 2006) 2550–2559, https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.26.7.2550-2559.2006.
- [250] B. Wong, S. Chen, J.-A. Kwon, A. Rich, Characterization of Z-DNA as a nucleosome-boundary element in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104 (7) (Feb. 2007) 2229–2234, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0611447104.
- [251] D.-B. Oh, Y.-G. Kim, A. Rich, Z-DNA-binding proteins can act as potent effectors of gene expression *in vivo*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99 (26) (Dec. 2002) 16666–16671, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.262672699.
- [252] M. Koeris, Modulation of ADAR1 editing activity by Z-RNA in vitro, Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (16) (Sep. 2005) 5362–5370, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gki849.
- [253] Q. Wang, X. Li, R. Qi, T. Billiar, RNA editing, ADAR1, and the innate immune response, Genes (Basel) 8 (1) (Jan. 2017) 41, https://doi.org/10.3390/ genes8010041.
- [254] G.I. Rice, et al., Mutations in ADAR1 cause Aicardi-Goutières syndrome associated with a type I interferon signature, Nat. Genet. 44 (11) (Nov. 2012) 1243–1248, https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2414.
- [255] N.W. Hubbard, et al., ADAR1 mutation causes ZBP1-dependent immunopathology, Nature 607 (7920) (Jul. 2022) 769–775, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-022-04896-7.
- [256] Y.-G. Kim, et al., A role for Z-DNA binding in vaccinia virus pathogenesis,

Biochimie 214 (2023) 176-192

Proc, Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (12) (Jun. 2003) 6974–6979, https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0431131100.

- [257] S.-I. Shin, et al., Z-DNA-forming sites identified by ChIP-Seq are associated with actively transcribed regions in the human genome, DNA Res. 23 (5) (Oct. 2016) 477–486, https://doi.org/10.1093/dnares/dsw031.
- [258] S. Ravichandran, V.K. Subramani, K.K. Kim, Z-DNA in the genome: from structure to disease, Biophys. Rev. 11 (3) (Jun. 2019) 383–387, https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12551-019-00534-1.
- [259] A. Maruyama, J. Mimura, N. Harada, K. Itoh, Nrf2 activation is associated with Z-DNA formation in the human HO-1 promoter, Nucleic Acids Res. 41 (10) (May 2013) 5223–5234, https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt243.
- [260] S. Wölfl, B. Wittig, A. Rich, Identification of transcriptionally induced Z-DNA segments in the human c-myc gene, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gene Struct. Expr. 1264 (3) (Dec. 1995) 294–302, https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4781(95) 00155-7.
- [261] B.K. Ray, S. Dhar, A. Shakya, A. Ray, Z-DNA-forming silencer in the first exon regulates human ADAM-12 gene expression, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108 (1) (Jan. 2011) 103–108, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1008831108.
- [262] V.L. Veenstra, et al., ADAM12 is a circulating marker for stromal activation in pancreatic cancer and predicts response to chemotherapy, Oncogenesis 7 (11) (Nov. 2018) 87, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41389-018-0096-9.
- [263] S. Mendaza, et al., ADAM12 is A Potential therapeutic target regulated by hypomethylation in triple-negative breast cancer, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21 (3) (Jan. 2020) 903, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21030903.
- [264] G. Wang, K.M. Vasquez, Models for chromosomal replication-independent non-B DNA structure-induced genetic instability, Mol. Carcinog. 48 (4) (Apr. 2009) 286–298, https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20508.
- [265] G. Wang, L.A. Christensen, K.M. Vasquez, Z-DNA-forming sequences generate large-scale deletions in mammalian cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (8) (Feb. 2006) 2677–2682, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0511084103.
- [266] G. Wang, S. Carbajal, J. Vijg, J. DiGiovanni, K.M. Vasquez, DNA structureinduced genomic instability in vivo, JNCI: J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 100 (24) (Dec. 2008) 1815–1817, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djn385.
- [267] J.A. McKinney, et al., Distinct DNA repair pathways cause genomic instability at alternative DNA structures, Nat. Commun. 11 (1) (Jan. 2020) 236, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13878-9.
- [268] E.H. Postel, S.J. Flint, D.J. Kessler, M.E. Hogan, Evidence that a triplex-forming oligodeoxyribonucleotide binds to the c-myc promoter in HeLa cells, thereby reducing c-myc mRNA levels, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88 (18) (1991) 8227–8231, https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.88.18.8227.
- [269] G. Singhal, et al., DNA triplex-mediated inhibition of MET leads to cell death and tumor regression in hepatoma, Cancer Gene Ther. 18 (7) (Jul. 2011) 520, https://doi.org/10.1038/CGT.2011.21.
- [270] B. Boros-Oláh, et al., Drugging the R-loop interactome: RNA-DNA hybrid binding proteins as targets for cancer therapy, DNA Repair (Amst) 84 (Dec. 2019) 102642, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DNAREP.2019.102642.